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                        SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
                           CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
                    (in thousands, except per share amounts) 
 
 
                                                                  Nov. 30,     Aug. 31, 
                                                                    2002         2002 
                                                                  --------     -------- 
                                                                (Unaudited)   (Audited) 
                                                                          
                                 Assets 
                                 ------ 
Current Assets: 
     Cash                                                         $  2,608     $ 32,974 
     Accounts receivable, less allowance for 
        doubtful accounts of $1,005 and $905                        18,406       31,126 
     Accounts receivable from related parties                          894          813 
     Inventories (Note 2)                                           72,952       57,917 
     Deferred income taxes                                           3,966        3,966 
     Other                                                           4,817        4,911 
                                                                  --------     -------- 
            Total current assets                                   103,643      131,707 
 
Net property, plant and equipment                                  111,987      111,759 
 
Other assets: 
     Investment in and advances to joint venture partnerships      100,715       96,440 
     Notes receivable, net of current portion                       26,035       27,067 
     Goodwill                                                       35,754       35,754 
     Intangibles and other                                           2,154        2,279 
                                                                  --------     -------- 
 
                                                                  $380,288     $405,006 
                                                                  ========     ======== 
 
                  Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 
                  ------------------------------------ 
Current liabilities: 
     Current portion of long-term debt                            $ 37,620     $ 60,220 
     Accounts payable                                               14,139       18,205 
     Accrued payroll liabilities                                     4,326        5,887 
     Current portion of environmental liabilities                    3,028        3,030 
     Other accrued liabilities                                       5,232        5,014 
                                                                  --------     -------- 
             Total current liabilities                              64,345       92,356 
 
Deferred income taxes                                               30,859       30,860 
 
Long-term debt, net of current portion                               8,210        8,305 
 
Environmental liabilities, net of current portion                   17,733       18,045 
 
Other long-term liabilities                                          2,780        2,492 
 
Commitments and contingencies 
 
Shareholders' equity: 
     Preferred stock--20,000 shares authorized, none issued 
     Class A common stock--75,000 shares $1 par value 
         authorized, 5,025 shares issued and outstanding             5,025        5,025 
     Class B common stock--25,000 shares $1 par value 
         authorized, 4,180 shares issued and outstanding             4,180        4,180 
     Additional paid-in capital                                     96,074       96,074 
     Retained earnings                                             151,082      147,669 
                                                                  --------     -------- 
             Total shareholders' equity                            256,361      252,948 
                                                                  --------     -------- 
 
                                                                  $380,288     $405,006 
                                                                  ========     ======== 
 
         The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement 
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                        SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
                      CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 
               (in thousands, except per share amounts, unaudited) 
 
 
                                                           For The Three Months 
                                                            Ended November 30, 
                                                          ---------------------- 
                                                            2002          2001 
                                                          --------      -------- 
                                                                   
Revenues                                                  $ 76,500      $ 76,834 
 
Cost and expenses: 
      Cost of goods sold and other operating expenses       69,466        71,510 
      Selling and commission expenses                          763           847 
      General and administrative expenses                    5,883         5,837 
                                                          --------      -------- 
 
Income (loss) from wholly-owned operations                     388        (1,360) 
 
Income from joint ventures                                   5,045         4,871 
                                                          --------      -------- 
 
Income from operations                                       5,433         3,511 
 
Other income (expense): 
      Interest expense                                        (354)         (777) 
      Other income                                               3           186 
                                                          --------      -------- 
 
                                                              (351)         (591) 
                                                          --------      -------- 
 
Income before income taxes                                   5,082         2,920 
 
Income tax provision                                        (1,208)         (876) 
                                                          --------      -------- 
 
Net income                                                $  3,874      $  2,044 
                                                          ========      ======== 
 
 
 
Basic earnings per share                                  $   0.42      $   0.22 
                                                          ========      ======== 
 
 
Diluted earnings per share                                $   0.41      $   0.22 
                                                          ========      ======== 
 
 
         The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement 
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                        SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
                 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
                            (in thousands, unaudited) 
 
 
                                         Class A                 Class B 
                                       Common Stock            Common Stock       Additional 
                                   --------------------    --------------------    Paid-in    Retained 
                                    Shares      Amount      Shares      Amount     Capital    Earnings    Total 
                                   --------    --------    --------    --------    --------   --------   -------- 
 
                                                                                     
Balance at August 31, 2001            4,896    $  4,896       4,304    $  4,304    $ 95,923   $142,946   $248,069 
 
Class B common stock converted 
    to Class A common stock             124         124        (124)       (124) 
Class A common stock repurchased        (99)        (99)                             (1,157)               (1,256)
Class A common stock issued             104         104                               1,308                 1,412 
Net income                                                                                       6,553      6,553 
Dividends paid                                                                                  (1,830)    (1,830)
                                   --------    --------    --------    --------    --------   --------   -------- 
 
Balance at August 31, 2002            5,025       5,025       4,180       4,180      96,074    147,669    252,948 
 
Net income                                                                                       3,874      3,874 
Dividends paid                                                                                    (461)      (461)
                                   --------    --------    --------    --------    --------   --------   -------- 
 
Balance at November 30, 2002          5,025    $  5,025       4,180    $  4,180    $ 96,074   $151,082   $256,361 
                                   ========    ========    ========    ========    ========   ========   ======== 
 
 
         The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement 
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                        SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
                      CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
                            (in thousands, unaudited) 
 
 
                                                         For The Three Months 
                                                          Ended November 30, 
                                                        ---------------------- 
                                                          2002          2001 
                                                        --------      -------- 
                                                                 
Operations: 
Net income                                              $  3,874      $  2,044 
Noncash items included in income: 
   Depreciation and amortization                           4,029         4,717 
   Equity in income of joint ventures                     (5,045)       (4,871) 
   Loss on disposal of assets                                 16            19 
Cash provided (used) by changes in working capital: 
   Accounts receivable                                    12,659         5,431 
   Inventories                                           (15,035)        3,785 
   Prepaid expenses and other                                 74          (566) 
   Accounts payable                                       (4,066)       (1,465) 
   Accrued liabilities                                    (1,343)       (1,859) 
   Other assets and liabilities                            1,118           549 
                                                        --------      -------- 
 
Net cash (used) provided by operations                    (3,719)        7,784 
                                                        --------      -------- 
 
Investing: 
Capital expenditures                                      (4,231)       (2,150) 
Cash received from joint ventures                          1,005        16,064 
Cash paid to joint ventures                                 (284)       (8,970) 
Proceeds from sale of assets                                  18            22 
                                                        --------      -------- 
 
Net cash (used) provided by investments                   (3,492)        4,966 
                                                        --------      -------- 
 
Financing: 
Repurchase of Class A common stock                                        (620) 
Dividends declared and paid                                 (461)         (456) 
Decrease in long-term debt                               (22,694)       (5,770) 
                                                        --------      -------- 
 
Net cash used by financing                               (23,155)       (6,846) 
                                                        --------      -------- 
 
Net (decrease) increase in cash                          (30,366)        5,904 
 
Cash at beginning of period                               32,974         1,877 
                                                        --------      -------- 
 
Cash at end of period                                   $  2,608      $  7,781 
                                                        ========      ======== 
 
 
         The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement 
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                        SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
              FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2002 AND 2001 
                                   (Unaudited) 
 
Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 
 
         Basis of Presentation 
         --------------------- 
 
         The accompanying unaudited interim financial statements of Schnitzer 
         Steel Industries, Inc. (the Company) have been prepared pursuant to the 
         rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). 
         Certain information and note disclosures normally included in annual 
         financial statements have been condensed or omitted pursuant to those 
         rules and regulations. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, 
         consisting only of normal, recurring adjustments considered necessary 
         for a fair presentation, have been included. Although management 
         believes that the disclosures made are adequate to ensure that the 
         information presented is not misleading, management suggests that these 
         financial statements be read in conjunction with the financial 
         statements and notes thereto included in the Company's annual report 
         for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2002. The results for the three 
         months ended November 30, 2002 and 2001 are not necessarily indicative 
         of the results of operations for the entire year. 
 
         Earnings and Dividends Per Share 
         -------------------------------- 
 
         Basic earnings per share (EPS) are computed based upon the weighted 
         average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted 
         EPS reflect the potential dilution that would occur if securities or 
         other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into 
         common stock. The following represents a reconciliation from basic EPS 
         to diluted EPS (in thousands, except per share amounts): 
 
                                                       For the Three Months 
                                                         Ended November 30, 
 
                                                         2002          2001 
                                                       -------        ------- 
 
            Net income                                 $ 3,874        $ 2,044 
                                                       =======        ======= 
 
            Computation of shares: 
              Average common shares outstanding          9,205          9,162 
              Stock options                                150             13 
                                                       -------        ------- 
              Diluted average common shares 
                 outstanding                             9,355          9,175 
                                                       =======        ======= 
 
            Basic EPS                                  $  0.42        $  0.22 
                                                       =======        ======= 
 
 
            Diluted EPS                                $  0.41        $  0.22 
                                                       =======        ======= 
 
 
            Dividend per share                         $  0.05        $  0.05 
                                                       =======        ======= 
 
         Options to purchase 501,700 and 1,021,000 shares were outstanding at 
         November 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively, but were not included in the 
         computation of diluted earnings per share because the options' exercise 
         prices were greater than the average market price of the common shares 
         and, therefore, the effect would be anti-dilutive. 
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                        SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
              FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2002 AND 2001 
                                   (Unaudited) 
 
         Goodwill 
         -------- 
         In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued 
         Statements of Financial Accounting Standards Nos. 141 and 142 (SFAS 141 
         and SFAS 142), "Business Combinations" and "Goodwill and Other 
         Intangible Assets." SFAS 141 replaces APB 16 and eliminates 
         pooling-of-interests accounting prospectively. It also provides 
         guidance on purchase accounting related to the recognition of 
         intangible assets and accounting for negative goodwill. Effective 
         September 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142. This statement 
         changed the accounting for goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible 
         assets from an amortization approach to an impairment-only approach. 
         Under SFAS 142, the Company will perform impairments tests on the book 
         value of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets as of 
         the adoption date. Thereafter, impairments tests will be performed 
         annually and whenever events and circumstances indicate that the value 
         of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets might be 
         impaired. The Company is in the process of testing goodwill for 
         impairment and anticipates the testing will be completed by the end of 
         the second quarter of fiscal 2003. 
 
         The following table presents a reconciliation of reported net income 
         and income per share, as if SFAS 142 had been in effect: 
 
                                                      For the Three Months 
                                                        Ended November 30, 
                                                      (in thousands, except 
                                                        per share amounts) 
                                                     -------------------------- 
 
                                                        2002             2001 
                                                     ---------        --------- 
            Reported net income                      $   3,874        $   2,044 
            Goodwill amortization, net of tax             --                239 
                                                     ---------        --------- 
            Adjusted net income                      $   3,874        $   2,283 
                                                     =========        ========= 
 
            Reported basic income per share          $    0.42        $    0.22 
            Goodwill amortization, net of tax             --               0.03 
                                                     ---------        --------- 
            Adjusted basic income per share          $    0.42        $    0.25 
                                                     =========        ========= 
 
            Reported diluted income per share        $    0.41        $    0.22 
            Goodwill amortization, net of tax             --               0.03 
                                                     ---------        --------- 
            Adjusted diluted income per share        $    0.41        $    0.25 
                                                     =========        ========= 
 
                                                    November 30,      August 31, 
                                                        2002             2002 
                                                     ---------        --------- 
            Goodwill balance (in thousands):         $  35,754        $  35,754 
                                                     =========        ========= 
 
         New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
         In July 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting 
         Standards No. 143 (SFAS 143), "Accounting for Asset Retirement 
         Obligations". SFAS 143 requires entities to record the fair value of a 
         liability for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which it 
         is incurred. When the liability is initially recorded, the entity is 
         required to capitalize the cost by increasing the carrying amount of 
         the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability is accreted to 
         its present value each period, and the capitalized cost is depreciated 
         over the useful life of the related asset. SFAS 143 is effective for 
         fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002 and was adopted by the 
         Company effective September 1, 2002. The adoption of this standard did 
         not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
                                       8 



 
 
                        SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
              FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2002 AND 2001 
                                   (Unaudited) 
 
         On October 3, 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting 
         Standards No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of 
         Long-Lived Assets" (SFAS 144). SFAS 144 superceded SFAS 121. SFAS 144 
         applies to all long-lived assets (including discontinued operations) 
         and consequently amends Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30 
         "Reporting Results of Operations - Reporting the Effects of Disposal of 
         a Segment of a Business." SFAS 144 develops one accounting model for 
         long-lived assets that are to be disposed of by sale. SFAS 144 requires 
         that long-lived assets that are to be disposed of by sale be measured 
         at the lower of book value or fair value less cost to sell. 
         Additionally, SFAS 144 expands the scope of discontinued operations to 
         include all components of an entity with operations that (1) can be 
         distinguished from the rest of the entity and (2) will be eliminated 
         from the ongoing operations of the entity in a disposal transaction. 
         SFAS 144 was effective for the Company for all financial statements 
         issued beginning September 1, 2002. The adoption of this standard did 
         not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
         In May 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, (SFAS 145) "Rescission of 
         FAS Nos. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FAS 13, and Technical 
         Corrections." Among other things, SFAS 145 rescinds various 
         pronouncements regarding early extinguishment of debt and allows 
         extraordinary accounting treatment for early extinguishment only when 
         the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, 
         "Reporting the Results of Operations - Reporting the Effects of 
         Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and 
         Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions" are met. SFAS 145 
         provisions regarding early extinguishment of debt are generally 
         effective for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002. The adoption 
         of this statement did not have a material impact on the consolidated 
         financial statements. 
 
         Reclassifications 
         ----------------- 
         Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to fiscal 
         2003 presentation. These changes had no impact on previously reported 
         results of operations or shareholders' equity. 
 
Note 2 - Inventories: 
 
         Inventories consisted of the following (in thousands): 
 
                                 November 30,    August 31, 
                                     2002           2002 
                                   -------        ------- 
                                 (Unaudited)     (Audited) 
 
            Recycled metals        $25,592        $13,432 
            Work in process          8,569          6,495 
            Finished goods          25,973         25,245 
            Supplies                12,818         12,745 
                                   -------        ------- 
 
                                   $72,952        $57,917 
                                   =======        ======= 
 
Note 3 - Segment Information: 
 
         The Company operates in two industry segments: metal processing and 
         recycling (Metals Recycling Business) and mini-mill steel manufacturing 
         (Steel Manufacturing Business). Additionally, the Company is a partner 
         in joint ventures, which are in the metals recycling business or which 
         are suppliers of unprocessed metals. The Joint Ventures in the Metals 
         Recycling Business sell recycled metals that have been processed at 
         their facilities (Processing) and also buy and sell processed metals 
         (Trading). The Company considers all joint ventures to be separate 
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                        SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
              FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2002 AND 2001 
                                   (Unaudited) 
 
         business segments because they are managed separately. These joint 
         ventures are accounted for using the equity method. As such, the 
         operating information provided below related to the joint ventures is 
         shown separately from consolidated information, except for the 
         Company's equity in the income from the joint ventures. The information 
         was obtained from internal data that was provided to the Company's 
         chief operating decision-makers for the purpose of corporate 
         management. The Company does not allocate corporate interest income and 
         expense, income taxes or other income and expenses related to corporate 
         activity to its operating segments. Assets and capital expenditures are 
         not shown for the joint ventures as management does not use that 
         information to allocate resources or assess performance. (See Note 4.) 
 
         Revenues from external customers for the Company's wholly-owned 
         operations are as follows (in thousands): 
 
 
                                               For the Three Months Ended 
                                               November 30,    November 30, 
                                                  2002             2001 
                                                --------         -------- 
 
            Metals Recycling Business           $ 45,574         $ 48,441 
            Steel Manufacturing Business          42,830           36,402 
            Intersegment revenues                (11,904)          (8,009) 
                                                --------         -------- 
            Consolidated revenues               $ 76,500         $ 76,834 
                                                ========         ======== 
 
         The joint ventures' revenues from external customers are as follows (in 
         thousands): 
 
                                                    For the Three Months Ended 
                                                    November 30,    November 30, 
                                                       2002             2001 
                                                     --------         -------- 
            Joint Ventures in the Metals 
               Recycling Business: 
                 Processing                          $104,570        $120,827 
                 Trading                               50,532          30,912 
            Joint Venture Suppliers of Metals          13,880          14,139 
                                                     --------        -------- 
            Total revenues                           $168,982        $165,878 
                                                     ========        ======== 
 
         The Company's income (loss) from operations is as follows (in 
         thousands): 
 
                                                     For the Three Months Ended 
                                                     November 30,   November 30, 
                                                         2002            2001 
                                                       -------         ------- 
 
            Metals Recycling Business                  $ 3,096         $   978 
            Steel Manufacturing Business                (1,257)           (248) 
            Joint Ventures in the Metals 
               Recycling Business                        3,070           3,699 
            Joint Venture Suppliers of Metals            1,975           1,172 
            Corporate expense                           (2,024)         (1,966) 
            Intercompany eliminations                      573            (124) 
                                                       -------         ------- 
 
            Consolidated income from operations        $ 5,433         $ 3,511 
                                                       =======         ======= 
 
         Income from operations generated by the joint ventures represents the 
         Company's equity in the income or loss of these entities. 
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                        SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
              FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2002 AND 2001 
                                   (Unaudited) 
 
         The Company's share of depreciation and amortization expense included 
         in the determination of joint ventures' income from operations is as 
         follows: 
 
                                                  For the Three Months Ended 
                                                  November 30,   November 30, 
                                                      2002            2001 
                                                    -------         ------- 
            Joint Ventures in the Metals 
               Recycling Business                    1,721           1,621 
            Joint Venture Suppliers of Metals          565             527 
 
Note 4 - Subsequent Event: 
 
         On January 10, 2003, the Company announced that its wholly-owned 
         subsidiary, Norprop, Inc., signed a definitive agreement to purchase 
         the stock of Pick and Pull Auto Dismantling, Inc., which is Norprop's 
         50% partner in Pick-N-Pull Auto Dismantlers, a California general 
         partnership (the "Joint Venture"). In addition, Norprop agreed to buy 
         Pick-N-Pull Auto Dismantlers, Stockton, LLC. ("Stockton"), which is not 
         part of the Joint Venture, but operates the single largest volume 
         Pick-N-Pull store. Both of the entities being acquired are owned by Bob 
         Spence, who has managed the business of the Joint Venture. 
 
         The Joint Venture stores together with Stockton ("Pick-N-Pull") are one 
         of the country's leading self service used auto parts and auto 
         dismantling networks with twenty-three (23) locations in northern 
         California and five other states. 
 
         The acquisition is expected to close in mid-February 2003. The 
         estimated purchase price is approximately $85 million, subject to 
         adjustment for certain year-end balance sheet items and environmental 
         liabilities, if any. The estimated purchase price includes the 
         assumption of approximately $10 million of net debt, approximately $6 
         million of which represents amounts currently owed to Schnitzer. In 
         addition to typical closing conditions, the transaction is contingent 
         upon satisfactory completion of environmental due diligence on 
         Pick-N-Pull's facilities. The agreement also provides for a purchase 
         price adjustment approximately one year after closing based upon the 
         operating results of the acquired business. The Company anticipates the 
         Pick-N-Pull acquisition will be accretive to earnings. 
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                        SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
 
ITEM 2.    MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
           CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
General 
 
The Company operates in two industry segments. The Company's Metals Recycling 
Business collects, processes and recycles steel scrap through its facilities 
located on the West Coast, with major facilities in Oakland, California, 
Portland, Oregon and Tacoma, Washington. The Company's Steel Manufacturing 
Business operates a mini-mill near Portland, Oregon, which produces finished 
steel products. In addition, the Steel Manufacturing Business owns a 
distribution facility in Southern California, and leases space in a facility in 
Southern California and one in Central California. Additionally, the Company is 
a partner in joint ventures that are either in the metals recycling business or 
are suppliers of unprocessed metals. The Joint Ventures in the Metals Recycling 
Business sell recycled metals that have been processed at their facilities 
(Processing) and also buy and sell processed metals (Trading). 
 
Results of Operations 
 
The Company's revenues and operating results by business segment are summarized 
below (in thousands): 
 
                                                      For the Three Months Ended 
                                                      November 30,  November 30, 
                                                          2002          2001 
                                                        --------      -------- 
                                                              (unaudited) 
      REVENUES: 
      Metals Recycling Business: 
           Ferrous sales                                $ 33,930      $ 36,993 
           Nonferrous sales                               10,115         9,890 
           Other sales                                     1,529         1,558 
                                                        --------      -------- 
               Total sales                                45,574        48,441 
 
      Ferrous sales to Steel Manufacturing Business      (11,904)       (8,009) 
      Steel Manufacturing Business                        42,830        36,402 
                                                        --------      -------- 
               Total                                    $ 76,500      $ 76,834 
                                                        ========      ======== 
 
      INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS: 
      Metals Recycling Business                         $  3,096      $    978 
      Steel Manufacturing Business                        (1,257)         (248) 
      Joint Ventures in the Metals Recycling Business      3,070         3,699 
      Joint Venture Suppliers of Metals                    1,975         1,172 
      Corporate expense                                   (2,024)       (1,966) 
      Intercompany eliminations                              573          (124) 
                                                        --------      -------- 
               Total                                    $  5,433      $  3,511 
                                                        ========      ======== 
 
      NET INCOME                                        $  3,874      $  2,044 
                                                        ========      ======== 
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                        SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
 
The Joint Ventures' revenues and results of operations were as follows (in 
thousands): 
 
 
                                                                  For the Three Months Ended 
                                                                   November 30,  November 30, 
                                                                       2002         2001 
                                                                     --------     -------- 
                                                                          (unaudited) 
                                                                             
      Total revenues from external customers recognized by: 
        Joint Ventures in the Metals Recycling Business: 
             Processing                                              $104,570     $120,827 
             Trading                                                   50,532       30,912 
        Joint Venture Suppliers of Metals                              13,880       14,139 
                                                                     --------     -------- 
                                                                     $168,982     $165,878 
                                                                     ========     ======== 
 
      Income from joint ventures recognized by the Company from: 
        Joint Ventures in the Metals Recycling Business              $  3,070     $  3,699 
        Joint Venture Suppliers of Metals                               1,975        1,172 
                                                                     --------     -------- 
                                                                     $  5,045     $  4,871 
                                                                     ========     ======== 
 
 
The following table summarizes certain selected operating data for the Company 
and its joint venture businesses: 
 
 
                                                                  For the Three Months Ended 
                                                                   November 30,  November 30, 
                                                                       2002         2001 
                                                                     --------     -------- 
                                                                          (unaudited) 
                                                                             
      SHIPMENTS (in thousands): 
 
      METALS RECYCLING BUSINESS: 
      Ferrous recycled metal (long tons): 
        To Steel Manufacturing Business                                   115           93 
        To other unaffiliated domestic customers                           38            6 
        To export customers                                               142          249 
                                                                     --------     -------- 
             Total ferrous recycled metal                                 295          348 
                                                                     ========     ======== 
 
      Nonferrous metal (pounds)                                        25,500       29,100 
                                                                     ========     ======== 
 
      STEEL MANUFACTURING BUSINESS 
      Finished steel products (net tons)                                  142          124 
                                                                     ========     ======== 
 
 
         JOINT VENTURES IN THE METALS RECYCLING BUSINESS 
 
         Ferrous recycled metal (long tons): 
           Processing                                                     637          894 
                                                                     ========     ======== 
           Trading                                                        388          240 
                                                                     ========     ======== 
 
 
First Quarter Fiscal 2003 Compared to First Quarter Fiscal 2002 
- --------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
General. In the first quarter of fiscal 2003, the Metals Recycling Business 
experienced market conditions not seen since before the 1997 Asian financial 
crisis. Prices began to rise in early calendar 2002 as supplies of ferrous 
recycled metals from the countries of the former Soviet Union decreased as a 
result of export tariffs and outright bans in certain countries. By the end of 
the Company's 2002 fiscal year, foreign steel producers were delaying their 
purchases in an attempt to lower buying prices. By the end of the first quarter, 
foreign buyers needed to replenish their inventories at price levels that were 
at or above prices recognized in the first two months of the quarter. As a 
 
                                       13 



 
 
                        SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
 
result, the Metals Recycling Business' ferrous sales volumes decreased in the 
first quarter of fiscal 2003; however, increased order volume began late in the 
first quarter of fiscal 2003 and is anticipated to continue through the second 
fiscal quarter. The Joint Ventures in the Metals Recycling Business were 
affected by the same supply and demand situation as the Company's wholly-owned 
Metals Recycling Business. Improved demand for nonferrous recycled metals, 
particularly from China, boosted selling prices, though the West Coast 
longshoreman's lockout had a small effect by temporarily deferring sales volumes 
and increasing freight costs. 
 
The Steel Manufacturing Business saw higher sales volumes and selling prices in 
the first quarter of fiscal 2003 compared with the first quarter of fiscal 2002. 
The sales volume increases were driven by wire rod sales. Anti-dumping and 
countervailing duties preliminarily determined by the U.S. Department of 
Commerce in April 2002 and finally confirmed by the U.S. International Trade 
Commission in October 2002 made domestic wire rod products more competitive with 
imported products. The Steel Manufacturing Business turned this price parity 
with imported wire products into increased sales and market share. On the other 
hand, the Company believes that merchant bar and rebar prices have not seen a 
significant positive impact from tariffs imposed in March 2002 by the Federal 
Government under section 201 of the Trade Act of 1974. However, merchant bar 
selling prices have increased modestly industry-wide in order to adjust up to 
the cash costs of production. In the first quarter of fiscal 2003, the Steel 
Manufacturing Business nearly completed two capital projects to the rolling 
mill, which allow it to now produce higher margin specialty wire products and to 
improve the packaging of coiled products. Production costs per ton for the Steel 
Manufacturing Business declined as production in the melt shop and the rolling 
mills increased by 23% and 33%, respectively, compared with the first quarter of 
fiscal 2002. However, this improvement was partially offset by higher raw 
material prices. 
 
Net income for the first quarter of fiscal 2003 compared with the same quarter 
in the previous fiscal years benefited from higher average selling prices for 
ferrous recycled metals, decreased depreciation and amortization expense, a 
lower tax rate (see "Income Tax Provision" below) and a positive impact from 
intercompany profit eliminations. Depreciation expense was $0.4 million lower 
due to the Company reducing its asset base during fiscal 2002. Amortization 
expense decreased by $0.3 million as the Company implemented FAS 142 in fiscal 
2003, which eliminates goodwill amortization. Also, in the first quarter of 
fiscal 2003, income from operations benefited by $0.6 million as a result of a 
decrease from the beginning to the end of the quarter in the amount of 
intercompany profit eliminations. Profit on intercompany sales of ferrous metals 
by the Metals Recycling Business to the Steel Manufacturing Business is 
eliminated until the Steel Manufacturing Business converts the ferrous metals 
into finished products and sells them to third parties. The decrease in 
intercompany profit eliminations occurred as higher margin ferrous metals sold 
to the Steel Manufacturing Business in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002 flowed 
through the inventories of the Steel Manufacturing Business in the first quarter 
of fiscal 2003, and were replaced through intercompany sales at the lower 
margins prevailing during this quarter. 
 
 
REVENUES. Consolidated revenues for the three months ended November 30, 2002, 
decreased $0.3 million to $76.5 million compared with the first quarter of 
fiscal 2002. 
 
For the first quarter of fiscal 2003, revenues for the Metals Recycling 
Business, before intercompany eliminations, decreased $2.9 million (6%) compared 
with the first quarter of fiscal 2002 primarily due to lower ferrous export 
sales volumes. Total ferrous sales volumes decreased 53,100 tons (15%) due 
primarily to the market conditions previously mentioned. Partially offsetting 
the decrease in ferrous export sales volumes were increased sales volumes to the 
Steel Manufacturing Business and external domestic customers. Sales volumes to 
the Steel Manufacturing Business increased 21,600 tons (23%) to 115,000 tons as 
the melt shop ramped up billet production. Sales volumes to external domestic 
customers increased 31,700 tons (562%) reflecting increased sales to a Pacific 
Northwest steel manufacturer. The average sales price net of shipping costs 
(average net sales price) for ferrous metals increased $15 per ton (17%) to $102 
per ton from the first quarter of fiscal 2002 due to the lower supplies and 
tight inventories of recycled metals suppliers. Nonferrous sales volume 
decreased 12%, which was primarily attributable to the West Coast longshoreman's 
lockout and discontinuing the purchase and sale of a certain nonferrous metal 
commodity. 
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However, the lower nonferrous sales volume was offset by a 19% increase in the 
average net sales price compared with the same period last year primarily as a 
result of strong demand from China. 
 
The Steel Manufacturing Business' revenues for the three months ended November 
30, 2002 increased $6.4 million (18%), to $42.8 million compared with the prior 
year quarter, reflecting higher sales volumes and higher average sales prices. 
Finished steel shipments increased 18,300 tons (15%) to 142,300 tons with the 
average finished steel net selling price up $4 per ton (1%) to $284 per ton 
compared with the same quarter last year. The increase in sales volumes is 
primarily due to higher sales of wire rod as the Steel Manufacturing Business 
obtained additional sales from a major customer directly related to the 
anti-dumping and countervailing duties mentioned in the "General" paragraph 
above. The wire rod average net sales price was up 3% since the first quarter of 
last year and 4% since the market lows in the third quarter of fiscal 2002 due 
to these duties. However, the Company believes that the tariffs imposed under 
Section 201 of the Trade Act of 1974 in March and April 2002 on lower priced 
imported steel products have not resulted in any significant increases in price 
for other finished steel products, especially rebar and merchant bar. Merchant 
bar selling prices have increased 9% from extremely low levels as cash 
production costs for most suppliers were higher than selling prices and selling 
prices needed to be adjusted upward. 
 
COST OF GOODS SOLD. Consolidated cost of goods sold decreased $2.0 million (3%) 
for the three months ended November 30, 2002, compared with the same period last 
year. Cost of goods sold decreased as a percentage of revenues from 93% to 91%. 
Gross profit increased $1.7 million to $7.0 million during the latest quarter as 
compared to the prior year quarter as profit margins increased for the Metals 
Recycling Business. 
 
For the Metal Recycling Business, the cost of goods sold as a percentage of 
revenues decreased compared with the first quarter of fiscal 2002 from 90% to 
85%. Gross profit increased by $1.9 million to $7.0 million. The increase in 
gross profit was attributable to higher average net selling prices. Compared 
with the first quarter of last year, the average ferrous metals cost of sales 
per ton increased 10% due to higher purchase costs for unprocessed ferrous 
metals. Generally, the cost of unprocessed metal has a correlation to changes in 
the average selling price. Thus, as selling prices rose compared with last 
year's quarter, so did the cost of unprocessed metal. This increase in ferrous 
cost of sales was more than offset by the higher average ferrous net selling 
price per ton. 
 
For the first quarter of fiscal 2003, cost of goods sold for the Steel 
Manufacturing Business increased $7.5 million (21%) compared to the same period 
last year and as a percentage of revenues increased from 99% to 101%. Cost of 
goods sold per ton increased 4%. In the first quarter of fiscal 2003, the 
negative gross margin was ($0.5) million compared with a positive gross margin 
of $0.5 million in the first quarter of last year. The cost of goods sold 
increase was primarily due to a 15% increase in the cost of ferrous recycled 
metals, the main raw material component of mini-mill steel manufacturing and a 
product mix shift to wire rod, which has higher production costs than rebar. 
 
JOINT VENTURES. The Joint Ventures in the Metals Recycling Business 
predominantly sell recycled ferrous metal. Revenues for this segment in the 
first quarter of fiscal 2003 increased $3.4 million (2%) compared with the prior 
year quarter primarily due to increased sales of a recycled metals trading joint 
venture. The increase was a result of better sales to European countries and the 
timing of its shipments. Partially offsetting the increase was lower sales 
revenues for the joint ventures that process recycled metals. Due to the same 
supply and demand circumstances described earlier for the Company's wholly-owned 
businesses, the joint ventures that process recycled metals had a 29% decrease 
in sales volume partially offset by a 17% increase in average net selling price. 
Also, fiscal 2002 first quarter volumes were unusually high due to the 
non-recurring volumes from the World Trade Center tragedy. 
 
The Company's equity in income from its Joint Ventures in the Metals Recycling 
Business for the first quarter of fiscal 2003 decreased to $3.1 million from 
$3.7 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2002. The decrease in income from 
these Joint Ventures was primarily caused by the lower sales volumes of the 
processing Joint Ventures. Additionally, the Joint Ventures have worked to 
reduce the cost of unprocessed inventory as a percentage of the selling price 
and to improve operational efficiencies, thereby increasing their operating 
margins per ton. 
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Revenues of the Joint Venture Suppliers of Metals decreased $0.3 million during 
the first quarter of fiscal 2003 compared to the first quarter of last year due 
to the slowdown in the United States economy. However, the Company's 
self-service auto wrecking and parts joint venture had an increase in revenue 
for the period. For the three months ended November 30, 2002, the Company's 
equity in income from these joint ventures increased $0.8 million to $2.0 
million from the first fiscal quarter of last year. The Company's self-service 
auto wrecking and parts joint venture was primarily responsible for the increase 
due to higher margins and cost reductions related to refinements in its 
operations. 
 
INTEREST EXPENSE. Interest expense for the first quarter of fiscal 2003 
decreased 50% to $0.4 million compared with the first quarter of fiscal 2002. 
The decrease was primarily a result of lower average principal balances 
outstanding in the first quarter of fiscal 2003 as compared with last year's 
first quarter, as well as lower average interest rates. 
 
INCOME TAX PROVISION. The tax rate for the first quarter of fiscal 2003 was 
approximately 23% compared with 30% for the prior year quarter. The tax rate is 
lower in this year's quarter because FAS 142, which was implemented by the 
Company in fiscal 2003, eliminates the amortization of goodwill. This had the 
effect of reducing the tax rate because goodwill was never deductible for tax 
purposes. Also, management anticipates higher export sales, which under Federal 
law are taxed at a lower rate than domestic sales. The tax rate also continues 
to reflect the benefit from net operating loss carryforwards that accompanied an 
earlier acquisition. 
 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES. Cash used by operations for the three months 
ended November 30, 2002 was $3.7 million compared with cash provided of $7.8 
million for the same period in the prior fiscal year. The decrease in cash flow 
was due to inventory increases. The most significant increase came in the Metals 
Recycling Business where inventories grew primarily due to the timing of export 
orders and shipments mentioned above. The inventory increases were partially 
offset by a decrease in the accounts receivable balance also due to the timing 
of cash receipts for export shipments. 
 
Capital expenditures for the three months ended November 30, 2002 was $4.2 
million compared with $2.2 million during the quarter ended November 30, 2001. 
The increase was due to the costs associated with dock renovations and 
improvement projects at the Company's Portland, Oregon and Oakland, California 
recycling facilities. The Company expects to spend approximately $11.3 million 
on capital projects during the remainder of fiscal 2003. 
 
As a result of acquisitions completed in prior years, the Company had $20.8 
million of accrued environmental liabilities as of November 30, 2002. The 
Company expects to require significant future cash outlays as it incurs the 
actual costs relating to the remediation of such environmental liabilities. 
 
As of November 30, 2002, the Company had a committed unsecured bank credit 
facility totaling $200 million that matures in June 2003. The Company also had 
additional unsecured lines of credit of $40 million, which were uncommitted. In 
the aggregate, the Company had bank borrowings outstanding totaling $37.4 
million at November 30, 2002. These borrowings are classified as a current 
liability due to the June 2003 expiration of the bank credit facility. 
Management intends to replace the bank credit facility with a new agreement. 
Further, Management believes it has the ability to refinance the facility based 
upon the Company's financial position and from preliminary discussions with 
various banks that participate in its current facility. The Company's debt 
agreements have certain restrictive covenants. As of November 30, 2002, the 
Company was in compliance with such covenants. 
 
In July 2002, the Company's metals recycling joint ventures with Hugo Neu 
Corporation entered into a $70 million revolving credit facility ("JV Credit 
Facility") with a group of banks for working capital and general corporate 
purposes. Prior to this time, the joint ventures' working capital and other cash 
needs had been met by advances provided equally by the Company and its partner, 
Hugo Neu Corporation. The JV Credit Facility expires in July 2004, is secured by 
the inventory and receivables of the joint venture businesses and has certain 
restrictions on future borrowings. The Company is not a guarantor of the JV 
Credit Facility. The JV Credit Facility has a number of covenants and 
restrictions, 
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including restrictions on the level of distributions to the joint venture 
partners. As of November 30, 2002, the joint ventures were in compliance with 
such covenants. Borrowings under the JV Credit Facility totaled $35.0 million at 
November 30, 2002. 
 
The Company has certain contractual obligations and commercial commitments to 
make future payments. The following table summarizes these future obligations 
and commitments as of November 30, 2002 (in thousands): 
 
 
                                             Less than       1-3          4-5       After 5 
                                 Total        1 Year        Years        Years        Years 
                                --------     --------     --------     --------     -------- 
                                                                      
Long-term debt(1)               $ 45,830     $ 37,620     $    370     $    140     $  7,700 
Operating leases                  99,155        1,727        4,116        3,598       89,714 
Letters of credit                  4,900        4,900         --           --           -- 
JV credit facility (50%)(2)       17,500         --         17,500         --           -- 
                                --------     --------     --------     --------     -------- 
Total                           $167,385     $ 44,247     $ 21,986     $  3,738     $ 97,414 
                                ========     ========     ========     ========     ======== 
 
 
(1)   The Company has a $200 million credit facility with a group of banks for 
      working capital and other general purposes. The facility expires in June 
      2003 and has therefore been classified by the Company as a current 
      liability at August 31, 2002. Management believes it has the ability to 
      refinance the facility and expects to complete the refinancing in 2003. 
(2)   This disclosure assumes that if the JV Credit Facility is not renewed or 
      refinanced upon expiration, the Company and Hugo Neu Corporation would 
      restore their previous arrangement under which each funded one-half of the 
      joint ventures' cash needs. 
 
Pursuant to a stock repurchase program, the Company is authorized to repurchase 
up to 3.0 million shares of its stock when the market price of the Company's 
stock is not reflective of management's opinion of an appropriate valuation of 
the stock. Management believes that repurchasing shares under these conditions 
enhances shareholder value. During the first three months of fiscal 2003, the 
Company made no share repurchases. As of November 30, 2002, the Company had 
repurchased a total of 1.3 million shares under this program. 
 
The Company believes that its current cash balance, internally generated funds, 
existing credit facilities and its anticipation of being able to refinance its 
credit facilities will provide adequate financing for capital expenditures, 
working capital, stock repurchases and debt service requirements for the next 
twelve months. In the longer term, the Company may seek to finance business 
expansion, including potential acquisitions, with additional borrowing 
arrangements or additional equity financing. 
 
 
OUTLOOK. Due to the delay in receiving first quarter export orders, the Company 
expects both its wholly-owned and joint ventures metals recycling businesses to 
have near record sales volumes in the second quarter of fiscal 2003. Further, 
the average ferrous net selling prices are expected to be modestly higher than 
the amounts reported in the first quarter of fiscal 2003. The Company expects 
net sales prices and margins to be partially tempered by rising ocean freight 
rates coupled with increases in the cost of unprocessed metal. Looking beyond 
the second quarter, the Company continues to anticipate good demand, primarily 
from Asian customers, for ferrous recycled metal and tight available supply. 
These advantageous market conditions have not existed since before the 1997 
Asian financial crisis, but appear to be sustainable for the foreseeable future 
as was the case during much of the 1990's. Thus, the Company's management 
believes it is again well positioned to capture the benefits of these stronger 
market fundamentals. 
 
It's anticipated that the Steel Manufacturing Business will continue to improve 
its cost structure throughout fiscal 2003. In December, the Company completed an 
upgrade to its wire rod mill that will allow it to produce higher 
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margin products beginning in the second quarter of this year. The rise in 
recycled metal prices is expected to partially offset some of the operating 
improvements. In the end, the Company anticipates the Steel Manufacturing 
Business will further narrow its operating losses in the second quarter of 
fiscal 2003. 
 
Overall, the Company anticipates income from operations to be in the $8 million 
to $9 million range for the second quarter of fiscal 2003. Currently, the 
Company estimates its effective tax rate will continue to benefit from net 
operating loss carry forwards that were acquired in an earlier acquisition. 
This, as well as other tax benefits, should result in a fiscal 2003 effective 
tax rate that is in the low-to-mid twenty percent range. 
 
FACTORS THAT COULD AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS. Management's Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, particularly "Outlook" above, 
contains forward-looking statements, within the meaning of Section 27A of the 
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Act of 1934, and are 
made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation 
Reform Act of 1995. One can generally identify these forward-looking statements 
because they contain "expect", "believe" and other words which convey a similar 
meaning. One can also identify these statements as they do not relate strictly 
to historical or current facts. Examples of factors affecting Schnitzer Steel 
Industries, Inc.'s wholly-owned operations and its joint ventures (the Company) 
that could cause actual results to differ materially are the following: 
 
CYCLICALITY AND GENERAL MARKET CONSIDERATIONS: Selling prices for recycled 
metals are highly cyclical in nature and subject to worldwide economic 
conditions. In addition, the cost and availability of recycled metals are 
subject to volatile supply and demand conditions beyond the Company's control, 
resulting in periodic fluctuations in recycled metals prices. While the Company 
attempts to maintain margins by responding to changing recycled metals selling 
prices through adjustments to its metals purchase prices, the Company's ability 
to do so is limited by competitive factors as well as the impact of lower prices 
on the volume of scrap available to the Company. Moreover, increases in recycled 
metals prices can adversely affect the operating results of the Company's Steel 
Manufacturing Business because increases in steel prices generally lag increases 
in ferrous recycled metals prices. 
 
The steel industry is also highly cyclical in nature and sensitive to general 
economic conditions. Future economic downturns or a stagnant economy may 
adversely affect the performance of the Company. 
 
The Company expects to continue to experience seasonal fluctuations in its 
revenues and net income. Revenues can fluctuate significantly quarter to quarter 
due to factors such as the seasonal slowdown in the construction industry, which 
is an important buyer of the Company's finished steel products. The timing and 
extent of the slowdown is also dependent on the weather. 
 
The Company makes a number of large ferrous recycled metals shipments to foreign 
steel producers each year. Customer requirements, shipping schedules and other 
factors limit the Company's control over the timing of these shipments. 
Variations in the number of foreign shipments from quarter to quarter will 
result in fluctuations in quarterly revenues and earnings. The Company's 
expectations regarding ferrous metal sales prices and volumes, as well as 
earnings, are based in part on the assumption that orders from customers for 
larger shipments are not cancelled or delayed. 
 
COMPETITION: The recycled metals industry is highly competitive, with the volume 
of purchases and sales subject to a number of competitive factors, principally 
price. The Company has competition from both large and numerous smaller 
companies in its markets for the purchase of recyclable metals. The Company 
competes with a number of domestic and foreign recycled metals processors for 
sales to foreign customers. In the recent past lower cost ferrous recycled 
metals supplies from the countries of the former Soviet Union have adversely 
affected the Company's ferrous recycled metals selling prices and volumes. 
Currently, those countries have export tariffs and some outright export bans 
which have significantly reduced their export volumes and lowered the worldwide 
supply of ferrous recycled metals. These tariffs and bans have had a positive 
effect on the Company's selling prices and volumes. However, the Company cannot 
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predict when or if the countries of the former Soviet Union will change their 
export policies and what effect, if any, such changes might have on the 
Company's operating results. 
 
The domestic steel industry also is highly competitive. Steel prices can be 
highly volatile and price is a significant competitive factor. The Company 
competes with several steel producers in the Western United States for sales of 
its products. In addition, in recent years, the Company has experienced 
significant foreign competition, which is sometimes subsidized by large 
government agencies. There can be no assurance that such competition will not 
increase in the future. In March and April 2002, the ITC imposed tariffs on 
imported steel, under Section 201 of the 1974 Trade Act, to aid the domestic 
steel industry. To date, those tariffs have not significantly benefited selling 
prices for finished steel products. In October 2002, the ITC announced duty 
margins of up to 360% and subsidy rate of up to 18% against wire rod products 
from eight foreign countries. The Company cannot, however, predict the impact of 
these duty margins and subsidy rates on prices and operating results. In 
December 2002, Nucor Corporation assumed ownership of the assets of Birmingham 
Steel Corp., a steel manufacturing business in Seattle, Washington. Nucor 
Corporation has a significant share of the West Coast finished steel market and 
is considered an aggressive competitor. The impact, if any, that Nucor's 
ownership and operation of Birmingham Steel's Seattle facility will have on the 
Steel Manufacturing Business' and the Metals Recycling Business' operating 
results cannot be determined at this time. 
 
JOINT VENTURES: The Company has significant investments in joint venture 
companies. The Company does not manage the day-to-day activities of these 
businesses. As a result, it does not have the same ability to control the 
operations and related financial results as it does with its wholly-owned 
businesses. These businesses are, however, affected by many of the same risk 
factors mentioned above. Therefore, it is difficult to predict the financial 
results of these businesses. 
 
ENERGY SUPPLY: The Company and its joint ventures utilize various energy sources 
to operate their facilities. In particular, electricity and natural gas 
currently represent approximately 13% of the cost of steel manufactured for the 
Company's Steel Manufacturing Business. The Steel Manufacturing Business 
purchases electric power under a long-term contract from McMinnville Water & 
Light (McMinnville) which in turn relies on the Bonneville Power Administration 
(BPA). Historically, these contracts have had favorable prices and are long-term 
in nature. The Company has a five-year contract that expires in September 2006. 
On October 1, 2001, the BPA increased its electricity rates due to increased 
demand on the West Coast and lower supplies. This increase was in the form of a 
Cost Recovery Adjustment Clause (CRAC) added to BPA's contract with McMinnville. 
The CRAC is an additional monthly surcharge on selected power charges to recover 
costs associated with buying higher priced power during the West Coast power 
shortage. The CRAC, which BPA can adjust every six months, was 46% at October 1, 
2001, and then adjusted to 39% at April 1, 2002 and 43% at October 1, 2002. The 
BPA has announced an anticipated CRAC adjustment to 50% on April 1, 2003. 
However, it is not possible to predict future rate changes. 
 
The Steel Manufacturing Business also has long-term contracts for natural gas. 
In October 2000, the Company entered into a new contract set to expire on 
October 31, 2003. The latest contract negotiations resulted in rates that were 
30% higher then the previous agreement. As this contract comes to an end, the 
Company will attempt to negotiate a new long-term contract; however, it is not 
possible to predict the terms of the contract. 
 
The inability of the Company to negotiate favorable terms of electricity, 
natural gas and other energy sources could adversely affect the performance of 
the Company. 
 
TAX LAWS: The Company has been able to reduce its effective tax rate below the 
federal statutory tax rate for each of the last three years by using a 
combination of Net Operating Loss Carryforwards (NOLs), State of California 
Enterprise Zone tax credits and Foreign Sales Corporations or Extraterritorial 
Income Exclusions. The Company cannot predict how future tax law changes might 
affect the Company's effective tax rate. 
 
SHIPPING AND HANDLING: Both the Metals Recycling Business and the Steel 
Manufacturing Business often rely on third parties to handle and transport their 
products to end users in a timely manner. The cost to transport the 
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products, in particular by ocean freight, can be affected by circumstances over 
which the Company has no control such as fuel prices, political events, 
governmental regulations on transportation and changes in market rates due to 
carrier availability. 
 
INSURANCE: The cost of the Company's insurance is affected not only by its own 
loss experience but also by cycles in the insurance market. Though the Company's 
loss record and relationship with its underwriters is good it cannot predict 
future events and circumstances which could cause rates to materially change 
such as war, terrorist activities or natural disasters. The Company's property 
insurance and casualty insurance are to be renewed in February and March 
respectively, and are anticipated to increase approximately $1.0 million per 
year based on current market conditions. 
 
PENDING PICK-N-PULL ACQUISITION: In addition, Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements includes a forward looking statement predicting that the 
Pick-N-Pull acquisition will be accretive to the Company's earnings. There is a 
significant risk that environmental issues will prevent the transaction from 
closing or require renegotiation of the purchase agreement. Assuming the 
transaction closes, Pick-N-Pull's business is subject to a number of risks that 
could prevent it from maintaining or exceeding its current levels of 
profitability, such as volatile supply and demand conditions affecting prices 
and volumes in the markets for Pick-N-Pull's products, services and raw 
materials; local and worldwide economic conditions; increased competition; 
purchase accounting assumptions surrounding intangibles and goodwill; and 
business integration and management transition issues. 
 
One should understand that it is not possible to predict or identify all factors 
that could cause actual results to differ from the Company's forward-looking 
statements. Consequently, the reader should not consider any such list to be a 
complete statement of all potential risks or uncertainties. Further, the Company 
does not assume any obligation to update any forward-looking statement. 
 
ITEM 3.      QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 
 
The Company periodically uses derivative financial instruments to limit exposure 
to changes in interest rates. Because such derivative instruments are used 
solely as hedges and not for speculative trading purposes, they do not represent 
incremental risk to the Company. For further discussion of derivative financial 
instruments, refer to "Fair Value of Financial Instruments" in the consolidated 
Financial Statements included in Item 8 of Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
August 31, 2002. 
 
ITEM 4.           CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
 
Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc. management, including the Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has conducted an evaluation of the 
effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act 
Rule 13a-15 within 90 days of the filing of this report. Based on that 
evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded 
that the disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring that all 
material information required to be filed in this quarterly report has been made 
known to them in a timely fashion. There have been no significant changes in 
internal controls, or in factors that could significantly affect internal 
controls, subsequent to the date the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer completed their evaluation. 
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                                     PART II 
 
ITEM 6.    EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 
 
(a)   Exhibits 
 
      2.1     Stock and Membership Interest Purchase Agreement dated January 8, 
              2003 among Bob Spence, Pick and Pull Auto Dismantling, Inc., 
              Pick-N-Pull Auto Dismantlers, Pick-N-Pull Auto Dismantlers, 
              Stockton, LLC and Norprop, Inc. 
 
              The following schedules and exhibits to the Stock and Membership 
              Interest Purchase Agreement have been omitted and will be provided 
              to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request: 
 
              Schedule 4.1            Capitalization 
              Schedule 4.2            Organization 
              Schedule 4.3            Authorization 
              Schedule 4.4            Subsidiaries 
              Schedule 4.5            Financial Statements 
              Schedule 4.6            Absence of Certain Changes or Events 
              Schedule 4.7            Title to Assets 
              Schedule 4.8            Condition of Tangible Assets 
              Schedule 4.9            Contracts and Commitments 
              Schedule 4.10           No Conflict or Violation 
              Schedule 4.11           Consents and Approvals 
              Schedule 4.12           Litigation 
              Schedule 4.13           Labor Matters 
              Schedule 4.14           Liabilities 
              Schedule 4.15           Compliance with Law 
              Schedule 4.16           Brokers 
              Schedule 4.17           Other Agreements to Sell Assets 
              Schedule 4.18           Proprietary Rights 
              Schedule 4.19           Status of Contracts 
              Schedule 4.20           Employee Benefit Plans 
              Schedule 4.21           Transactions with Seller 
              Schedule 4.22           Tax Matters 
              Schedule 4.23           Employment Agreements and Compensation 
              Schedule 4.24           Insurance 
              Schedule 4.25           Receivables 
              Schedule 4.26           Inventories 
              Schedule 4.27           Purchase Commitments and Outstanding Bids 
              Schedule 4.28           Payments 
              Schedule 4.29           Environmental 
              Schedule 4.30           Warranties and Liability 
              Schedule 4.31           Permits and Licenses 
              Schedule 4.32           Undisclosed Liabilities 
              Schedule 4.33           Bank Accounts 
              Schedule 4.34           Records 
              Schedule 4.35           Misstatements or Omissions 
              Schedule 6.2            Guarantees of Seller 
              Schedule 6.3            Certain Prohibited Transactions 
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              Exhibit A               Wire Transfer Instructions 
              Exhibit B               Form of Spence Employment Agreement 
              Exhibit C               Form of Reddy Employment Agreement 
              Exhibit D               Form of Escrow Agreement 
 
      99.1    Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
              Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
              Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
 
      99.2    Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
              Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
              Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
 
(b)   Reports on Form 8-K 
 
      None 
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                        SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
 
 
 
 
 
                                    SIGNATURE 
 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the 
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
 
                                       SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
                                       (Registrant) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date:  January 10, 2003                By: /s/Barry A. Rosen 
     ---------------------                 ------------------------------------- 
                                           Barry A. Rosen 
                                           Vice President, Finance and Chief 
                                           Financial Officer 
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                        SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
 
                                  CERTIFICATION 
 
I, Robert W. Philip, certify that: 
 
1.     I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Schnitzer Steel 
       Industries, Inc.; 
 
2.     Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue 
       statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
       to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which 
       such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
       covered by this quarterly report; 
 
3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial 
       information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all 
       material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash 
       flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
       quarterly report; 
 
4.     The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for 
       establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
       defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and 
       have: 
 
       a)     designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that 
              material information relating to the registrant, including its 
              consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within 
              those entities, particularly during the period in which this 
              quarterly report is being prepared; 
 
 
       b)     evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure 
              controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the 
              filing date of this quarterly report (the "Evaluation Date"); and 
 
 
       c)     presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the 
              effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on 
              our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date; 
 
5.     The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on 
       our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit 
       committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the 
       equivalent function): 
 
       a)     all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of 
              internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant's 
              ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data 
              and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material 
              weaknesses in internal controls; and 
 
       b)     any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or 
              other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
              internal controls; and 
 
6.     The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this 
       quarterly report whether or not there were significant changes in 
       internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect 
       internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, 
       including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies 
       and material weaknesses. 
 
January 10, 2003 
 
/s/ ROBERT W. PHILIP 
- ----------------------------- 
Robert W. Philip 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
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                        SCHNITZER STEEL INDUSTRIES, INC. 
 
                                  CERTIFICATION 
 
I, Barry A. Rosen, certify that: 
 
1.     I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Schnitzer Steel 
       Industries, Inc.; 
 
2.     Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue 
       statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
       to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which 
       such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
       covered by this quarterly report; 
 
3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial 
       information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all 
       material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash 
       flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
       quarterly report; 
 
4.     The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for 
       establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
       defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and 
       have: 
 
       a)     designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that 
              material information relating to the registrant, including its 
              consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within 
              those entities, particularly during the period in which this 
              quarterly report is being prepared; 
 
       b)     evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure 
              controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the 
              filing date of this quarterly report (the "Evaluation Date"); and 
 
       c)     presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the 
              effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on 
              our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date; 
 
5.     The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on 
       our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit 
       committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the 
       equivalent function): 
 
       a)     all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of 
              internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant's 
              ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data 
              and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material 
              weaknesses in internal controls; and 
 
       b)     any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or 
              other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
              internal controls; and 
 
6.     The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this 
       quarterly report whether or not there were significant changes in 
       internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect 
       internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, 
       including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies 
       and material weaknesses. 
 
January 10, 2003 
 
/s/ BARRY A. ROSEN 
- ----------------------------- 
Barry A. Rosen 
Vice President, Finance and Treasurer, and 
Chief Financial Officer 
 



                                                                     EXHIBIT 2.1 
                                                                     ----------- 
 
 
                STOCK AND MEMBERSHIP INTEREST PURCHASE AGREEMENT 
 
         This Stock and Membership Interest Purchase Agreement ("Agreement"), 
dated as of January 8, 2003, is by and among Bob Spence ("Seller"); Pick and 
Pull Auto Dismantling, Inc., a California corporation (the "Company"); 
Pick-N-Pull Auto Dismantlers, a California general partnership (the 
"Partnership"); Pick-N-Pull Auto Dismantlers, Stockton, LLC, a California 
limited liability company (the "LLC"); and Norprop, Inc., an Oregon corporation 
("Buyer"). 
 
                                    RECITALS 
 
         A. Seller is the owner of one thousand (1,000) shares of Common Stock 
of the Company, constituting all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital 
stock of the Company (the "Stock"). 
 
         B. The Company is a general partner in the Partnership, which general 
partnership interest constitutes the sole asset of the Company. 
 
         C. Seller is the owner of all of the membership interests in the LLC 
(the "Interest"). 
 
         D. Buyer desires to purchase, and Seller desires to sell, the Stock and 
the Interest. 
 
                                    AGREEMENT 
 
         NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained 
herein, the parties agree as follows: 
 
1.       Certain Defined Terms. As used herein, the terms below shall have the 
following meanings: 
 
         "2002 Adjusted Partnership EBITDA" shall mean the EBITDA of the 
Partnership for calendar year 2002, 
 
                  Plus the sum of the following amounts: (1) enterprise zone tax 
credits attributable to the Partnership for calendar year 2002, (2) expenses 
incurred by the Partnership during calendar year 2002 in connection with the 
Facilities in Fort Worth, Texas and (3) expenses incurred by the Partnership 
during calendar year 2002 in connection with the eComm Litigation; 
 
                  Minus the amount of the July through December scrap settlement 
of One Hundred Seventy Thousand Dollars ($170,000) with Schnitzer Steel; 
 
                  Plus the amount of the Partnership's share of the negative 
EBITDA, or minus the amount of the Partnership's share of the positive EBITDA, 
as the case may be, of Carson City, Carson City Full Service and Newark Full 
Service for calendar year 2002 (for the purpose of eliminating, from the 
computation of 2002 Adjusted Partnership EBITDA, the Partnership's share of any 
EBITDA associated with Carson City, Carson City Full Service and Newark Full 
Service); 

 
all as determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
consistently applied, subject to adjustments for non-recurring items as mutually 
agreed upon by Seller and Buyer. 
 
         "2003 Adjusted Partnership EBITDA" shall mean the EBITDA of the 
Partnership for calendar year 2003, subject to adjustments for non-recurring 
items mutually agreed upon by Seller and Buyer, 
 
                  Plus the sum of the following amounts: (1) any cost incurred 
by the Partnership in calendar year 2003 in connection with employing any 
personnel hired by the Partnership at Buyer's request, (2) expenses incurred by 
the Partnership during calendar year 2003 in connection with the eComm 
Litigation, (3) salary earned by Bob Spence in consideration for his service 
during calendar year 2003 as President of the Partnership after the Closing paid 
pursuant to the employment agreement attached hereto as Exhibit B, (4) 
enterprise zone tax credits attributable to the Partnership for calendar year 
2003, (5) expenses incurred by the Partnership during calendar year 2003 in 
connection with the Facilities in Fort Worth, Texas and (6) all individual 
nonrecurring items of expense in excess of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) 
incurred by the Partnership during calendar year 2003; 
 
                  Minus the amount of all individual nonrecurring items of 
income in excess of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) earned by the Partnership 
during calendar year 2003; 
 
                  Provided, that allocations of Schnitzer corporate expenses 
shall be taken into account in calculating the 2003 Adjusted Partnership EBITDA 



only to the extent like items and amounts (based on a level of services 
consistent with past practice) were allocated consistent with past practices in 
the comparable manner for calendar year 2002, or with the consent of the parties 
hereto; and 
 
                  Provided, further, that the effects of any (i) purchase 
accounting adjustments and (ii) changes in environmental reserves, to the extent 
such reserves relate to environmental facts or conditions existing on or before 
the Closing Date, shall be excluded from the calculation of the 2003 Adjusted 
Partnership EBITDA; 
 
all as determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
consistently applied. 
 
         "2002 LLC EBITDA" shall mean the EBITDA of the LLC for calendar year 
2002, determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
consistently applied. 
 
          "2003 LLC EBITDA" shall mean the EBITDA of the LLC for calendar year 
2003, determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
consistently applied. 
 
          "Carson City" shall mean the self-service automobile dismantling and 
retail parts sales business owned and operated by the Partnership and located in 
Carson City, Nevada. 
 
         "Carson City Full Service" shall mean the full-service automobile 
dismantling and retail parts sales business owned and operated by the 
Partnership and located in Carson City, Nevada. 
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         "Closing Date" shall mean the later of (a) ten (10) calendar days after 
completion of the audited financial statements of the Seller Entities for fiscal 
year 2002, or (b) February 14, 2003, or such other date as may be mutually 
agreed upon in writing by Seller and Buyer; provided, however, that if the 
Closing Date does not occur on or before February 15, 2003 because Seller, any 
Seller Entity or any lessor of property on which a Facility is located, does not 
provide Buyer or Buyer's environmental consultants with reasonable access to any 
property or personnel for the purpose of conducting environmental due diligence 
or sampling and testing as contemplated in Section 6.4, then the Closing Date 
shall be the date that is ten (10) calendar days after completion of the 
environmental due diligence of Buyer described in Section 6.4. 
 
         "Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as it may be 
amended from time to time. 
 
         "Contract" shall mean any of the Contracts. 
 
         "Contracts" shall mean any of the agreements, contracts, commitments or 
other documents of the types described in Sections 4.9.1 through 4.9.8, to which 
any Seller Entity is a party. 
 
         "Disclosure Schedule" shall mean the schedules delivered by Seller to 
Buyer, which set forth, with respect to the Seller Entities, exceptions to the 
representations and warranties of Seller, the Company, the Partnership and the 
LLC contained in this Agreement and provide certain other information called for 
herein. Seller has delivered the Disclosure Schedule to Buyer and shall update 
it, if applicable, on or before the Closing Date, subject to Buyer's reasonable 
approval of any changes to the Disclosure Schedule. 
 
         "eComm Litigation" shall mean the lawsuit brought by eComm 
Technologies, Inc., Case No. 01-06154WJR, in the U.S. District Court for the 
Central District of California, in which the Partnership is a defendant and 
cross-complainant. 
 
         "EBITDA" shall mean net income before interest, income taxes, 
depreciation and amortization determined in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles consistently applied. 
 
         "Effective Date" shall mean January 1, 2003. 
 
         "Encumbrances" shall mean any claim, lien, pledge, option, charge, 
easement, security interest, right-of-way, encumbrance, conditional use permit 
or other rights of third parties. 
 
         "Facilities" shall mean all real property and any related facilities 
that are wholly or partially owned or leased by any Seller Entity. 
 
         "Financial Statements" shall mean the following financial statements of 
the Seller Entities: (i) audited balance sheets at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 
1999 and unaudited balance sheets at November 30, 2002 (collectively, the 
"Balance Sheets"); (ii) audited statements of income and shareholders' equity 
(collectively, the "Statements of Income") and statements of cash flow for the 
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999; and (iii) unaudited Statements of 
Income and statements of cash flow for the eleven (11) month period ending on 
November 30, 2002 for the Seller Entities. 
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         "Initial Company Purchase Price" means Sixty-Six Million Nine Hundred 
Seventy-Three Thousand Dollars ($66,973,000). 
 
         "Initial LLC Purchase Price" means Eighteen Million Nine Hundred 
Fifty-Six Thousand Dollars ($18,956,000). 
 
         "LLC Balance Sheet Adjustment" shall mean the amount equal to: (A) the 
aggregate amount of cash and cash equivalents held by the LLC, minus (B) the 
aggregate amount owed to Seller or any third party under loans payable by the 
LLC; all as shown on the LLC's audited balance sheet at December 31, 2002, 
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
consistently applied. 
 
         "Material Adverse Change" shall mean any change that has resulted, will 
result or is likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
         "Material Adverse Effect" shall mean a material adverse effect on the 
business, results of operations, financial position or prospects of the Seller 
Entities, which shall in any event include any adverse effect on the equity, 
assets, revenue or net income of a Seller Entity in excess of One Hundred 
Thousand Dollars ($100,000). 
 
         "Minority Interest Debt" shall mean the aggregate amount owed to the 
Partnership by Seller Entities other than the Company and the LLC. 
 
         "Newark Full Service" shall mean the full service automobile 
dismantling and retail parts sales business that was located in Newark, 
California. 
 
         "Partnership Balance Sheet Adjustment" shall mean the amount equal to 
fifty percent (50%) of: (A) the sum of the following amounts: (1) the aggregate 
amount of cash and cash equivalents held by the Partnership plus the aggregate 
amount of the Partnership's share of cash and cash equivalents held by the 
Partnership's Subsidiaries, (2) the Partnership's share of the appraised value 
of the Facilities in Phoenix, Arizona, (3) the Partnership's share of the 
appraised value of the unused land adjacent to the Facilities in Summit, 
Illinois, (4) the aggregate amount owed to the Partnership by Buyer or Schnitzer 
Steel under accounts receivable, (5) the Partnership's share of the appraised 
value of the land and buildings and net book value of the working capital and 
other assets and liabilities of Carson City and Carson City Full Service, and 
(6) the aggregate amount of any debt owed by Carson City to the Partnership; 
minus (B) the aggregate amount owed to Buyer or Schnitzer Steel under notes 
payable by the Partnership, net of the Minority Interest Debt, or any other 
long-term debt owed to any other party by the Partnership, exclusive of any 
capital lease obligations; in each case (other than appraised values) as shown 
on the Partnership's audited balance sheet at December 31, 2002, prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied. 
 
         "Potential Environmental Liabilities" shall mean the aggregate 
potential liabilities of the Seller Entities that Buyer reasonably believes, on 
the basis of probabilistic risk analysis, could reasonably be expected to result 
in the need for remedial action due to any existing fact or condition with 
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respect to any of the Facilities or compliance by any Seller Entity with any 
Environmental Law, including without limitation any existing fact or condition 
with respect to (i) soil Contamination existing at a Facility at the time a 
Seller Entity became owner or occupier of the Facility site, (ii) soil 
Contamination that has occurred at any Facility since a Seller Entity has owned 
or occupied such Facility, (iii) ground water Contamination, or (iv) storm water 
Contamination. The parties acknowledge that Buyer is not performing Phase II 
environmental studies at all of the Facility sites and that Buyer will use the 
Phase I environmental studies provided to Buyer by Seller or obtained by Buyer 
and the Phase II environmental studies obtained by Buyer as representative of 
site conditions at all Facility sites to extrapolate, on the basis of 
probabilistic risk analysis, the Potential Environmental Liabilities with 
respect to all Facilities. 
 
         "Potential Environmental Liability" shall mean any of the Potential 
Environmental Liabilities. 
 
         "Representative" shall mean any officer, director, principal, attorney, 
agent, employee or other authorized representative. 
 
         "Schnitzer Steel" shall mean Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc., an 
Oregon corporation. 
 
         "Seller Entities" shall mean the Company, the Partnership, the LLC and 
all Subsidiaries. 
 
         "Seller Entity" shall mean any of the Seller Entities. 
 
         "Subsidiaries" shall mean all corporations, partnerships, joint 
ventures or other entities in which the Company, the Partnership, the LLC or any 
Subsidiary either owns capital stock or is a partner or is in some other manner 
affiliated through an investment or participation in the equity of such entity. 
 
         "Subsidiary" shall mean any of the Subsidiaries. 
 
         "Tangible Personal Property" shall mean all the tangible personal 
property owned by the Seller Entities. 
 
         "Third-Party Indemnification Obligations" shall mean the amount of any 
third-party indemnification obligations that inure to the benefit of any Seller 
Entity, and are in writing and binding on and fully enforceable against the 
third party and its successors and assigns with respect to specified Potential 
Environmental Liabilities, but only to the extent the third party is 
creditworthy and can reasonably be expected to honor such indemnification 
obligations and to have sufficient financial resources to pay such 
indemnification obligations when due. 
 
2.       Purchase and Sale of Stock and Interest. 
 
         2.1      Transfer of Stock and Interest. Upon the terms and subject to 
the conditions contained herein, Seller will sell, convey, transfer, assign and 
deliver to Buyer, and Buyer will acquire on the Closing Date but effective as of 
the Effective Date, the Stock and the Interest. 
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         2.2      Company Purchase Price. The purchase price for the Stock (the 
"Company Purchase Price") shall be the Initial Company Purchase Price, less Two 
Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000), plus the Partnership Balance Sheet 
Adjustment (or minus, if negative), less any adjustment required under Section 
2.6 to account for Potential Environmental Liabilities at the Facilities of 
Seller Entities other than the LLC, and is subject to post-Closing adjustment as 
described in Section 2.4. The Company Purchase Price shall be payable as 
follows: 
 
                  2.2.1 Earnest Money. The first Five Million Dollars 
($5,000,000) of the Company Purchase Price (the "Earnest Money") will be paid by 
Buyer to Seller on the date of execution of this Agreement in cash by wire 
transfer in accordance with the wire transfer instructions set forth in Exhibit 
A. Buyer shall be entitled to prompt return of the Earnest Money, together with 
interest earned thereon at the rate of two and one-half percent (2.5%) per 
annum, if Buyer notifies Seller on or before the Closing Date that the Closing 
shall not occur as a result of (i) a failure of Seller to either (A) comply with 
his obligations under Section 3.2.3 or (B) close the transactions contemplated 
by this Agreement other than as a result of a breach by Buyer, or (ii) the 
existence of Potential Environmental Liabilities of more than Five Million 
Dollars ($5,000,000) in excess of any amount recorded on the Financial 
Statements, whether or not the fact or condition giving rise to such Potential 
Environmental Liabilities would cause any representations and warranties made 
herein to be inaccurate, or (iii) the failure of a landlord of one or more of 
the Facilities to consent to Buyer's conducting due diligence at such Facilities 
as contemplated in Section 6.4. If (a) Buyer does not so notify Seller, (b) 
Buyer thereafter refuses to close the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement on the Closing Date, even though Seller is obligated to close, and (c) 
Seller fulfills all of the conditions precedent to the Closing and is ready, 
willing and able to close on the Closing Date, then Seller shall be entitled to 
receipt of the Earnest Money and all interest earned thereon, as full and 
liquidated damages for Buyer's breach and not as a penalty, and as Seller's sole 
and exclusive remedy for such breach by Buyer. If Buyer so notifies Seller and 
Seller thereafter does not promptly refund the Earnest Money and interest 
thereon, then from the date of Buyer's demand therefor until the date of payment 
to Buyer, the amounts owed hereunder shall bear interest at the rate of ten 
percent (10%) per annum. Seller and the Company hereby agree that from and after 
the date of demand by Buyer and until such time as Buyer has been paid the 
Earnest Money and all accrued interest in full, any distribution by either the 
Partnership to the Company or the LLC to Seller shall be paid to Buyer and 
applied to reduce the amount owed, and Seller and the Company hereby agree that 
Buyer shall have a right of setoff to the fullest extent permitted by law during 
such time. 
 
                  2.2.2 Cash at Closing. The balance of the Company Purchase 
Price will be paid to Seller by Buyer by wire transfer in cash on the Closing 
Date in accordance with the wire transfer instructions set forth in Exhibit A 
attached, subject to the holdback provisions specified in Sections 2.6 or 9.4 
below. 
 
         2.3      LLC Purchase Price. The purchase price for the Interest (the 
"LLC Purchase Price") shall be the Initial LLC Purchase Price, less Two Hundred 
Thousand Dollars ($200,000), plus the LLC Balance Sheet Adjustment (or minus, if 
negative), less any adjustment required under Section 2.6 to account for 
Potential Environmental Liabilities at the Facilities of the LLC, and is subject 
to post-Closing adjustment as described in Section 2.5. The LLC Purchase Price 
shall be paid to Seller by Buyer by wire transfer in cash on the Closing Date in 
accordance with the wire transfer instructions set forth in Exhibit A attached, 
subject to the holdback provisions specified in Sections 2.6 or 9.4 below. In 
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addition, at Closing Buyer shall pay to Seller in full the note payable owed by 
the LLC to Seller, the principal amount of which at December 31, 2002 was 
approximately Three Million Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($3,300,000). 
 
         2.4      Company Purchase Price Adjustment. 
 
                  2.4.1 Calculation of 2003 Adjusted Partnership EBITDA. No 
later than February 28, 2004, Buyer shall deliver to Seller a calculation of the 
2003 Adjusted Partnership EBITDA (the "Statement of 2003 Partnership EBITDA"). 
Buyer and Seller agree that each of them will cooperate and assist in the 
preparation of the Statement of 2003 Partnership EBITDA and in the conduct of 
the audits, reviews, inventories and inspections to be undertaken in connection 
therewith. The Statement of 2003 Partnership EBITDA shall be accompanied by (i) 
a statement signed by the President or Chief Financial Officer of Buyer, setting 
forth the amount, if any, by which the 2003 Company EBITDA is greater or less 
than the 2002 Company EBITDA, and (ii) work papers setting forth the 
calculations showing the basis for the determination of such amount. 
 
                  2.4.2 Amount of Adjustment. Subject to adjustment pursuant to 
the resolution of any disputes in accordance with Section 2.4.3, the Company 
Purchase Price shall be finally adjusted as follows: 
 
                        (i) if the amount equal to one hundred seventy-five 
percent (175%) of the sum of the 2002 Adjusted Partnership EBITDA, subject to 
any adjustment required pursuant to Section 2.6, and the 2003 Adjusted 
Partnership EBITDA is greater than the Initial Company Purchase Price, Buyer 
shall pay Seller the amount of such difference by wire transfer of immediately 
available funds; and 
 
                        (ii) if the amount equal to one hundred seventy-five 
percent (175%) of the sum of the 2002 Adjusted Partnership EBITDA, subject to 
any adjustment required pursuant to Section 2.6, and the 2003 Adjusted 
Partnership EBITDA is less than the Initial Company Purchase Price, Seller shall 
pay Buyer the amount of such difference by wire transfer of immediately 
available funds; 
 
provided, that in no event shall the aggregate payment by Buyer to Seller or by 
Seller to Buyer under this Section 2.4 and Section 2.5 exceed Twelve Million 
Dollars ($12,000,000). 
 
                  2.4.3 Dispute of Statement of 2003 Partnership EBITDA. In the 
event that Seller, in good faith, disputes the Statement of 2003 Partnership 
EBITDA, Seller shall notify Buyer in a writing setting forth in detail the 
items, amount, nature and basis of such dispute (a "Dispute Notice"), within ten 
(10) business days after delivery of the Statement of 2003 Partnership EBITDA. 
In the event of such dispute, Seller and Buyer shall first use their diligent 
good-faith efforts to resolve such dispute between themselves. If Seller and 
Buyer are unable to resolve any items in dispute within twenty (20) business 
days after delivery of the Dispute Notice, then such unresolved items in dispute 
shall be submitted to an independent nationally recognized accounting firm with 
no material relationship to any party hereto (such accounting firm shall be 
referred to as the "Arbitrator"). Within thirty (30) business days, the 
Arbitrator shall determine the remaining disputed items and report to Seller and 
 
                                        7 



 
Buyer in writing with respect to such items. The Arbitrator's decision shall be 
in writing and shall be final, conclusive and binding on all parties. A judgment 
on the determination made by the Arbitrator pursuant to this Section 2.4.3 may 
be entered into and enforced by any court of appropriate jurisdiction. The fees 
and expenses of the Arbitrator in connection with the resolution of disputes 
pursuant to this Section 2.4.3 shall be borne by Buyer if the Arbitrator 
concludes that the actual 2003 Adjusted Partnership EBITDA is greater than the 
amount set forth in the Statement of 2003 Partnership EBITDA, and otherwise by 
Seller. 
 
                  2.4.4 Payment of Adjustment. Within five (5) business days 
following (i) the expiration of the ten (10) business day period for giving the 
Dispute Notice under Section 2.4.3, if no such Dispute Notice is given, or (ii) 
the resolution of any disputes pursuant to Section 2.4.3, the parties shall make 
any payment required under Section 2.4.2. Past-due amounts owing under this 
Section 2.4 shall bear interest at a rate of ten percent (10%) per annum from 
the date payment is due until the date of payment. 
 
         2.5      LLC Purchase Price Adjustment. 
 
                  2.5.1 Calculation of 2003 LLC EBITDA. No later than February 
28, 2004, Buyer shall deliver to Seller a calculation of the 2003 LLC EBITDA 
(the "Statement of 2003 LLC EBITDA"). Buyer and Seller agree that each of them 
will cooperate and assist in the preparation of the Statement of 2003 LLC EBITDA 
and in the conduct of the audits, reviews, inventories and inspections to be 
undertaken in connection therewith. The Statement of 2003 LLC EBITDA shall be 
accompanied by (i) a statement signed by the President or Chief Financial 
Officer of Buyer, setting forth the amount, if any, by which the 2003 LLC EBITDA 
is greater or less than the 2002 LLC EBITDA, and (ii) work papers setting forth 
the calculations showing the basis for the determination of such amount. 
 
                  2.5.2 Amount of Adjustment. Subject to adjustment pursuant to 
the resolution of any disputes in accordance with Section 2.5.3, the LLC 
Purchase Price shall be finally adjusted as follows: 
 
                        (i) if the amount equal to three hundred fifty percent 
(350%) of the sum of the 2002 LLC EBITDA, subject to any adjustment required 
pursuant to Section 2.6, and the 2003 LLC EBITDA is greater than the Initial LLC 
Purchase Price, Buyer shall pay Seller the amount of such difference by wire 
transfer of immediately available funds; and 
 
                        (ii) if the amount equal to three hundred fifty percent 
(350%) of the sum of the 2002 LLC EBITDA, subject to any adjustment required 
pursuant to Section 2.6, and the 2003 LLC EBITDA is less than the Initial LLC 
Purchase Price, Seller shall pay Buyer the amount of such difference by wire 
transfer of immediately available funds; 
 
provided, that in no event shall the aggregate payment by Buyer to Seller or by 
Seller to Buyer under this Section 2.5 and Section 2.4 exceed Twelve Million 
Dollars ($12,000,000). 
 
                  2.5.3 Dispute of Statement of 2003 LLC EBITDA. In the event 
that Seller, in good faith, disputes the Statement of 2003 LLC EBITDA, Seller 
shall deliver to Buyer a Dispute Notice within ten (10) business days after 
delivery of the Statement of 2003 LLC EBITDA. In the event of such dispute, 
Seller and Buyer shall first use their diligent good-faith efforts to resolve 
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such dispute between themselves. If Seller and Buyer are unable to resolve any 
items in dispute within twenty (20) business days after delivery of the Dispute 
Notice, then such unresolved items in dispute shall be submitted to the 
Arbitrator. Within thirty (30) business days, the Arbitrator shall determine the 
remaining disputed items and report to Seller and Buyer in writing with respect 
to such items. The Arbitrator's decision shall be in writing and shall be final, 
conclusive and binding on all parties. A judgment on the determination made by 
the Arbitrator pursuant to this Section 2.5.3 may be entered into and enforced 
by any court of appropriate jurisdiction. The fees and expenses of the 
Arbitrator in connection with the resolution of disputes pursuant to this 
Section 2.5.3 shall be borne by Buyer if the Arbitrator concludes that the 
actual 2003 LLC EBITDA is greater than the amount set forth in the Statement of 
2003 LLC EBITDA, and otherwise by Seller. 
 
                  2.5.4 Payment of Adjustment. Within five (5) business days 
following (i) the expiration of the ten (10) business day period for giving the 
Dispute Notice under Section 2.5.3, if no such Dispute Notice is given, or (ii) 
the resolution of any disputes pursuant to Section 2.5.3, the parties shall make 
any payment required under Section 2.5.2. Past-due amounts owing under this 
Section 2.5 shall bear interest at a rate of ten percent (10%) per annum from 
the date payment is due until the date of payment. 
 
         2.6      Right to Terminate and Adjustments Based On Potential 
Environmental Liabilities. If Buyer identifies Potential Environmental 
Liabilities of more than Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000), Buyer shall so 
notify Seller and Buyer and Seller shall, on or before February 14, 2003, 
attempt to agree upon appropriate adjustments to the Company Purchase Price and 
LLC Purchase Price. In the absence of such mutual agreement, either Buyer or 
Seller may at any time on or before February 15, 2003 terminate this Agreement, 
and Seller must return any Earnest Money previously paid by Buyer within three 
days. Adjustments shall be made to the calculation of 2002 Adjusted Partnership 
EBITDA and 2002 LLC EBITDA to correct for accruals or changes in accruals (other 
than accruals of environmental liabilities for environmental conditions existing 
as of December 31, 2001) that (i) if known by any Seller Entity on or before 
December 31, 2002, would have been required to be recorded in a financial 
statement under generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied to 
make the Financial Statements or any of them not misleading or inaccurate and 
(ii) are discovered by Buyer or Buyer's auditors or consultants in the course of 
its due-diligence review, have a magnitude of Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars 
($25,000) or more and would have been required to be recorded in a financial 
statement under generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied. 
 
         If in the course of its due diligence review Buyer identifies any 
Potential Environmental Liability (whether or not such liability would be 
required to be recorded in a financial statement under generally accepted 
accounting principles) but the condition in Section 8.6 is either satisfied or 
waived, (a) the LLC Purchase Price shall be reduced by the aggregate amount of 
Potential Environmental Liabilities at the LLC's Facilities, less (ii) the 
amount of any Third-Party Indemnification Obligations with respect to such 
liabilities, plus (iii) costs and expenses, including consulting and attorneys 
fees, Buyer reasonably expects to incur in collecting on such Third-Party 
Indemnification Obligations, and (b) the Company Purchase Price shall be reduced 
by: (i) fifty percent (50%) of the aggregate amount of Potential Environmental 
Liabilities at the Facilities of all other Seller Entities, less (ii) fifty 
percent (50%) of the amount of any Third-Party Indemnification Obligations with 
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respect to such liabilities, plus (iii) costs and expenses, including consulting 
and attorneys fees, Buyer reasonably expects to incur in collecting on such 
Third-Party Indemnification Obligations; provided, however, that no Potential 
Environmental Liability at any Facility or related Third-Party Indemnification 
Obligations shall be included in the foregoing Purchase Price adjustments unless 
the aggregate amount of Potential Environmental Liabilities at that Facility 
exceed Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000); and provided, further, that 
Seller shall bear the burden of proving the amount of any Third-Party 
Indemnification Obligations. Prior to the Closing Date, Buyer shall notify 
Seller in writing of Buyer's estimate and description of the Potential 
Environmental Liabilities, net of the difference between any Third-Party 
Indemnification Obligations and reasonably expected costs and expenses of 
collecting on Third-Party Indemnification Obligations. In the event that Seller, 
in good faith, disputes Buyer's estimate of that amount, Seller shall notify 
Buyer in a writing setting forth in detail the items, amount, nature and basis 
of such dispute within ten (10) days of the receipt of Buyer's estimate. In the 
event of such dispute, Seller and Buyer shall first use their diligent 
good-faith efforts to resolve such dispute between themselves. If Seller and 
Buyer are unable to resolve any items in dispute within twenty (20) days of 
Seller's notice of dispute, then such unresolved items in dispute shall be 
submitted to an independent nationally recognized environmental consulting firm 
mutually selected by Seller and Buyer within ten (10) business days following 
the expiration of the twenty (20) day period, with no material relationship to 
any party hereto (such consulting firm shall be referred to as the 
"Environmental Dispute Arbitrator"). Each party shall submit to the 
Environmental Dispute Arbitrator and exchange with each other within twenty (20) 
days after the Environmental Dispute Arbitrator is selected a figure and 
supporting documentation representing such party's calculation of the Potential 
Environmental Liabilities, net of the difference between any Third-Party 
Indemnification Obligations and reasonably expected costs of collecting on 
Third-Party Indemnification Obligations, which documentation shall form the sole 
basis for the Environmental Dispute Arbitrator's decision. Within thirty (30) 
business days, the Environmental Dispute Arbitrator shall select one or the 
other of the two figures submitted. The Environmental Dispute Arbitrator's 
decision shall be final, conclusive and binding on all parties. A judgment on 
the determination made by the Environmental Dispute Arbitrator pursuant to this 
Section 2.6 may be entered into and enforced by any court of appropriate 
jurisdiction. If the Closing occurs prior to resolution of the amount to be 
deducted from either the LLC Purchase Price or the Company Purchase Price 
pursuant to this Section 2.6, Buyer shall be entitled to withhold the amount of 
Buyer's estimate from the applicable Purchase Price pending resolution of the 
dispute. The parties agree that upon the later of the Closing and the resolution 
of any dispute regarding the amount, if any, to be deducted under this Section 
2.6, Seller shall automatically be released from any and all liabilities to 
Buyer related to or arising from Potential Environmental Liabilities, except for 
liabilities arising from a breach of one or more representations or warranties 
contained in this Agreement. 
 
         2.7      Employment Agreements. In addition to the payment of the 
Company Purchase Price specified above in Section 2.2 and the LLC Purchase Price 
specified above in Section 2.3, the Partnership shall hire Seller and Robert T. 
Reddy as President and Chief Financial Officer, respectively, in accordance with 
the terms of the Employment Agreements attached hereto as Exhibits B and C (the 
"Employment Agreements"). 
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3.       Closing. 
 
         3.1      Closing. The closing of the transactions contemplated herein 
(the "Closing") shall be held at 10 a.m. local time on the Closing Date at the 
offices of Weintraub Genshlea Chediak Sproul, 400 Capitol Mall, Suite 1100, 
Sacramento, California, unless the parties otherwise agree. All transactions 
contemplated in this Agreement to occur on the Closing Date shall be deemed 
effective as of the Effective Date. 
 
         3.2      Documents to Be Delivered. To effect the transfer referred to 
in Section 2.1 and the delivery of the consideration described in Sections 2.2 
and 2.3, Seller, the Partnership, the Company and the LLC, on the one hand, and 
Buyer, on the other hand, shall, on the Closing Date, deliver the following: 
 
                  3.2.1 Seller shall deliver to Buyer certificate(s) evidencing 
shares of the Stock, free and clear of any Encumbrances of any nature 
whatsoever, duly endorsed in blank for transfer or accompanied by stock powers 
duly executed in blank. 
 
                  3.2.2 Seller shall deliver to Buyer the certificate(s), if 
any, evidencing the Interest, free and clear of any Encumbrances of any nature 
whatsoever, duly endorsed in blank for transfer. 
 
                  3.2.3 Seller, the Company, the Partnership, the LLC and Buyer 
shall each deliver all documents required to be delivered pursuant to Sections 7 
and 8. 
 
                  3.2.4 Buyer shall deliver to Seller immediately available 
funds as provided in Sections 2.2 and 2.3. 
 
         3.3      Form of Documents. All instruments and documents executed and 
delivered to Buyer pursuant hereto shall be in form and substance, and shall be 
executed in a manner, reasonably satisfactory to Buyer. All instruments and 
documents executed and delivered to Seller pursuant hereto shall be in form and 
substance, and shall be executed in a manner, reasonably satisfactory to Seller. 
 
4.       Representations and Warranties of Seller, the Partnership, the Company 
and the LLC. As a material inducement to Buyer to enter into this Agreement and 
consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, Seller, the Partnership, the 
Company and the LLC hereby represent and warrant to Buyer that all of the 
statements contained in this Section 4 are correct and complete in all material 
respects as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, except as 
set forth in the Disclosure Schedule. 
 
         4.1      Ownership of all Stock; Capitalization. The Company is the 
sole corporate Seller Entity. The authorized capital of the Company consists of 
one hundred thousand (100,000) authorized shares of common stock, no par value, 
of which one thousand (1,000) shares are issued and outstanding, all of which 
are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and which 
have not been issued in violation of any federal, state or other law or 
regulation pertaining to the issuance of securities, or in violation of any 
preemptive or similar rights granted pursuant to the Company's articles of 
incorporation or otherwise. Seller owns of record and beneficially all of the 
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outstanding capital stock of the Company and all outstanding membership 
interests in the LLC, free and clear of all Encumbrances or limitations, 
including limitations affecting Seller's ability to vote or to transfer the 
Stock or the Interest to Buyer. There are no outstanding or authorized rights, 
options, warrants, convertible securities, rights of first refusal, subscription 
rights, conversion rights, exchange rights or other agreements or commitments of 
any kind that could require any Seller Entity to issue shares of capital stock 
or ownership interests, or Seller to offer or sell the Stock or the Interest to 
anyone other than Buyer. There are no outstanding obligations of the Company or 
the LLC to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any of its outstanding shares 
of capital stock or membership interests, respectively. At the Closing, Buyer 
will acquire good and marketable title to the Stock and the Interest, free and 
clear of all pledges, security interests, shareholders agreements, purchase 
arrangements, restrictions, redemption agreements, Encumbrances or limitations 
of whatever nature. 
 
         4.2      Organization. Each Seller Entity is duly formed, validly 
existing and, as applicable, in good standing under the laws of the state in 
which it is organized, and has full power and authority to conduct its business 
as it is currently being conducted and to own and lease its properties and 
assets. Each Seller Entity is duly qualified to do business and is in good 
standing in each jurisdiction in which such qualification is necessary under the 
applicable law as a result of the conduct of its business or the ownership of 
its properties, except where the failure to so qualify would not have a Material 
Adverse Effect. Section 4.2 of the Disclosure Schedule contains a true and 
correct copy of the organizational documents for each Seller Entity. 
 
         4.3      Authorization. Each of Seller, the Partnership, the Company 
and the LLC has all necessary power and authority to enter into this Agreement 
(and all other agreements, instruments and certificates executed and delivered 
in connection herewith) and to carry out their terms, and each has taken all 
action necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and to 
perform his or its respective obligations hereunder. Each of the Company, the 
Partnership and the LLC has taken all action necessary to authorize the 
execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement. This Agreement has been 
duly executed and delivered by Seller, the Partnership, the Company and the LLC 
and is a legal, valid and binding obligation of each of Seller, the Partnership, 
the Company and the LLC, enforceable against each of Seller, the Partnership, 
the Company and the LLC in accordance with the terms hereof. 
 
         4.4      Subsidiaries. Except as set forth in section 4.4 of the 
Disclosure Schedule, none of the Seller Entities owns or controls any direct or 
indirect equity interest or participation in any corporation, partnership, 
limited liability company, trust or other business association, joint venture, 
subsidiary or other entity. 
 
         4.5      Financial Statements. Seller has furnished the Financial 
Statements to Buyer. The Financial Statements (i) are complete and in accordance 
with the books and records of the Company, the Partnership, the LLC and the 
Subsidiaries, respectively; (ii) present fairly the financial position as of the 
dates indicated and the results of operations for the periods then ended of the 
Company, the Partnership, the LLC and the Subsidiaries, respectively, in all 
material respects; and (iii) have been prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles consistently applied throughout the periods 
indicated except as expressly stated herein. Except as and to the extent 
reflected or reserved against in the Balance Sheets (including any notes 
thereto), no Seller Entity has, as of the dates of the Balance Sheets, any 
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material liabilities or obligations (absolute or contingent) of a nature and 
amount required or customarily reflected in a balance sheet (or the notes 
thereto) prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
consistently applied. The reserves, if any, reflected on the Balance Sheets are 
consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. The Statements of 
Income are complete, in all material respects, are in accordance with the books 
and records of the Seller Entities and present fairly the results of operations 
of the Seller Entities for the periods indicated. 
 
         4.6      Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Except as set forth in 
section 4.6 of the Disclosure Schedule, since December 31, 2001, there has not 
been any: 
 
                  4.6.1 Material Adverse Change or event, occurrence, 
development or state of circumstances or facts that could reasonably be expected 
to result in a Material Adverse Change; 
 
                  4.6.2 (i) ten percent (10%) or greater increase in the 
compensation payable or to become payable by the Seller Entities to any of their 
officers, employees or agents (collectively, "Personnel"), other than for 
employees, officers and agents having annual compensation of less than 
Thirty-Five Thousand Dollars ($35,000) or as identified in section 4.6.2 of the 
Disclosure Schedule; (ii) bonus, incentive compensation, service award or other 
like benefit granted, made or accrued, contingently or otherwise, for or to the 
credit of any Personnel other than in the ordinary course of business or as 
identified in section 4.6.2 of the Disclosure Schedule; (iii) employee welfare, 
pension, retirement, profit-sharing or similar payment or arrangement made or 
agreed to, other than in the ordinary course of business or as described in 
section 4.6.2 of the Disclosure Schedule; or (iv) employment agreement executed 
or amended; 
 
                  4.6.3 addition to or modification of the employee benefit 
plans, arrangements or practices described in the Disclosure Schedule affecting 
Personnel, other than (i) contributions made for the period after September 30, 
2002, in accordance with the normal practices of the Seller Entities or (ii) the 
extension of coverage to other Personnel who became eligible after December 31, 
2001; 
 
                  4.6.4 cancellation of any indebtedness or waiver of any rights 
of substantial value to any Seller Entity, whether or not in the ordinary course 
of business; 
 
                  4.6.5 amendment, cancellation or termination of any Contract, 
license or other instrument to which any Seller Entity is a party; 
 
                  4.6.6 purchase or other acquisition of property, sale, lease 
or other disposition of property, or expenditure, except in the ordinary course 
of business; 
 
                  4.6.7 payment of any obligation of any Seller Entity other 
than in the ordinary course of business or pursuant to a Contract; 
 
                  4.6.8 change in accounting methods, principles, estimates or 
practices by any Seller Entity; 
 
                  4.6.9 revaluation by any Seller Entity of any of its assets, 
including, without limitation, writing off notes or accounts receivable, that 
has had, or reasonably could be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect; 
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                  4.6.10 damage, destruction or loss (whether or not covered by 
insurance) adversely affecting the properties, business or prospects of any 
Seller Entity that has had, or reasonably could be expected to have, a Material 
Adverse Effect; 
 
                  4.6.11 mortgage, pledge or other encumbrance, or consent to 
encumbrance, of any assets of the Seller Entities except in the ordinary course 
of business; 
 
                  4.6.12 declaration, setting aside or payment of dividends or 
distributions for any capital stock of any Seller Entity, or redemption, 
purchase or other acquisition of any of the Seller Entities' equity securities, 
or payment by any Seller Entity to or for the account of its equity holders, 
other than in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past 
practices; 
 
                  4.6.13 issuance by any of the Seller Entities of, or 
commitment of any of the Seller Entities to issue, any shares of stock or other 
equity securities or obligations or securities convertible into or exchangeable 
for shares of stock or other equity securities; 
 
                  4.6.14 indebtedness incurred by a Seller Entity for borrowed 
money, or commitment to borrow money entered into by a Seller Entity, or loans 
made or agreed to be made by a Seller Entity, other than loans and advances 
consistent with past practices by the Partnership to any Seller Entity or by any 
Seller Entity to the Partnership or any other Seller Entity; 
 
                  4.6.15 liabilities incurred by any of the Seller Entities 
that, either singly or in the aggregate, are material to the business, results 
of operations, financial conditions or prospects of the Seller Entities; 
 
                  4.6.16 conduct of the business of the Seller Entities that is 
outside the ordinary course of business or not substantially in the manner that 
Seller Entities previously conducted their business; 
 
                  4.6.17 payment, discharge or satisfaction of any liabilities 
other than the payment, discharge or satisfaction in the ordinary course of 
business and consistent with past practice of liabilities reflected or reserved 
against in the Balance Sheets or incurred in the ordinary course of business and 
consistent with past practice since September 30, 2002; 
 
                  4.6.18 oral or written agreement by any Seller Entity to do 
any of the foregoing; 
 
                  4.6.19 change in the assets, liabilities, licenses, permits or 
franchises of any Seller Entity, or in any agreement to which any Seller Entity 
is a party or is bound, that has had or reasonably could be expected to have a 
Material Adverse Effect; or 
 
                  4.6.20 other event or condition of any character that in any 
one case or in the aggregate has materially and adversely affected, or event or 
condition known to the Company, Seller, the Partnership or the LLC (other than 
matters of general public knowledge relating to general economic conditions or 
to the Company's, the Partnership's or the LLC's industry as a whole) that it is 
reasonable to expect will, in any one case or in the aggregate, materially and 
adversely affect the condition (financial or otherwise), assets, liabilities, 
working capital, reserves, earnings, business or prospects of the Company, the 
Partnership or the LLC. 
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         4.7      Title to Assets, etc. Except as set forth in section 4.7 of 
the Disclosure Schedule, the Company, the Partnership, the LLC and the 
Subsidiaries have good and marketable fee simple title to the Tangible Personal 
Property. None of the Facilities or Tangible Personal Property (collectively, 
the "Assets") is subject to any Encumbrances or restrictions of any kind, other 
than (i) liens on the Balance Sheets, (ii) liens for taxes not yet due or being 
contested in good faith (and for which adequate accruals or reserves have been 
established on the Financial Statements) or (iii) Encumbrances that do not 
materially detract from the value of the Assets as now used or materially 
interfere with any present or intended use of the Assets. The Seller Entities 
have in all material respects performed all the obligations required to be 
performed by them with respect to the Assets leased by them through the date 
hereof. The Seller Entities have properly exercised all options purported to 
have been exercised prior to the date hereof by any Seller Entity under the 
leases of the Facilities and recorded all liabilities that could become due 
under such leases or upon the termination of such leases. 
 
         4.8      Condition of Tangible Assets. 
 
                  4.8.1 Condition of Assets. The Tangible Personal Property has 
been maintained and operated in accordance with prudent industry practices, is 
in good operating condition and repair (except for ordinary wear and tear), is 
sufficient for the operation of the Seller Entities' businesses as currently 
conducted and, to the best of the knowledge of Seller and the Seller Entities, 
is in conformity with all applicable laws, ordinances, orders, regulations and 
other requirements (including applicable zoning, environmental and motor vehicle 
safety standards, and occupational safety and health laws and regulations) 
relating thereto currently in effect. The Seller Entities enjoy peaceful and 
undisturbed possession of all of the Facilities. There are no pending or 
threatened condemnation proceedings relating to any of the Facilities. To the 
best of the knowledge of Seller and the Seller Entities, neither the operations 
of the Seller Entities on any of the Facilities nor any improvements on the 
Facilities violate any applicable building code, zoning requirement or other 
statute or ordinances. To the best of the knowledge of Seller and the Seller 
Entities, there are no material defects in the improvements to the Facilities 
(including, without limitation, in connection with the heating, ventilation, air 
conditioning, electrical, plumbing, telephone, mechanical and other building 
systems, exterior walls, roofs, windows and other structural elements and sewage 
disposal systems), and the improvements are substantially sound and in good 
working order and are in compliance with all applicable laws and codes. None of 
said improvements, equipment and other assets is subject to any commitment or 
other arrangement for their sale or use by any affiliate of the Seller Entities 
or third parties. 
 
                  4.8.2 Governmental Regulation and Utilities. The Seller 
Entities have no knowledge of and are not subject to any pending or contemplated 
special assessments, condemnation, taking or other similar proceeding by any 
public authority against the Facilities, and there is no plan, study or effort 
by any governmental authority or agency or any provision of any ordinance or 
regulation that in any way prevents or unreasonably interferes with or would 
prevent or unreasonably interfere with the use or zoning of the Facilities. The 
Facilities have adequate water supply, storm and sanitary sewer facilities, 
telephone, gas, electrical connections, fire protection, drainage and means of 
ingress and egress to and from public highways that meet all requirements 
imposed by applicable law and as are necessary to the conduct of the business 
conducted at the Facilities for the foreseeable future. To the best of the 
knowledge of Seller and the Seller Entities, all streets and roads necessary for 
access to and full utilization of the Facilities, or any part thereof, have been 
built, completed, dedicated and accepted for maintenance and public use by the 
appropriate governmental authorities. 
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                  4.8.3 Property Liens; Other. To the best of the knowledge of 
Seller and the Seller Entities, none of the material structures on the 
Facilities encroaches upon real property of another person, and no structure of 
any other person substantially encroaches upon any of the Facilities. There are 
no developments affecting any of the Assets pending or, to the knowledge of 
Seller, the Company, the Partnership or the LLC, threatened that might 
materially detract from the value of the Assets, materially interfere with any 
present or intended use of any of the Assets or materially adversely affect the 
marketability of the Assets. 
 
         4.9      Contracts and Commitments. Except as set forth in the 
Financial Statements or in section 4.9 of the Disclosure Schedule, no Seller 
Entity is a party to any written or oral: 
 
                  4.9.1 commitment, contract, note, loan, evidence of 
indebtedness, purchase order or letter of credit involving any actual or 
potential obligation or liability on the part of such Seller Entity of more than 
Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000) individually or in the aggregate and not 
cancelable (without liability) within thirty (30) days; 
 
                  4.9.2 lease of real property (section 4.9 of the Disclosure 
Schedule indicates for each lease the term, annual rent and renewal options); 
 
                  4.9.3 lease of personal property involving any annual expense 
in excess of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) and not cancelable (without 
liability) within thirty (30) days (section 4.9 of the Disclosure Schedule 
indicates with respect to each lease listed on the Disclosure Schedule a general 
description of the leased items, term, annual rent and renewal options); 
 
                  4.9.4 material contracts and commitments not otherwise 
described above or listed in the Disclosure Schedule (including purchase orders, 
franchise agreements and undertakings or commitments to any governmental or 
regulatory authority); 
 
                  4.9.5 governmental or regulatory licenses or permits required 
to conduct the business of the Seller Entity as currently conducted; 
 
                  4.9.6 contracts or agreements containing covenants limiting 
the freedom of the Seller Entities to engage in any line of business or compete 
with any person; 
 
                  4.9.7 employment contracts, including, without limitation, 
contracts to employ executive officers and other contracts with officers or 
directors of the Seller Entities; or 
 
                  4.9.8 agreement, license, permit or other instrument under 
which the Seller Entity has acquired or been granted, or sold or granted, a 
right to use any Proprietary Rights, as defined below. 
 
No Seller Entity and, to the best knowledge of the Company, the Partnership, the 
LLC and Seller, no other party is in breach or violation of, or in default 
under, any of the Contracts or other instruments, obligations, evidences of 
indebtedness or commitments described in this Section 4.9. 
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         4.10     No Conflict or Violation. Neither the execution and delivery 
of this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby 
will (i) violate or conflict with any provision of the Articles of 
Incorporation, Bylaws, Partnership Agreement or other charter documents of any 
Seller Entity; (ii) either alone or with the giving of notice or the passage of 
time or both, conflict with, constitute grounds for termination or acceleration 
of, result in a breach of the terms, conditions or provisions of, result in the 
loss of any benefit to any Seller Entity under or constitute a default under 
(whether by virtue of the application of a "change of control" provision or 
otherwise) any contract, agreement, indebtedness, lease, Encumbrance, 
commitment, license, franchise, permit, authorization or concession to which 
Seller or any Seller Entity is a party or by which the Assets are bound; (iii) 
violate any statute, rule, regulation, ordinance, code, order, judgment, writ, 
injunction, decree or award of any governmental authority applicable to any 
Seller Entity; or (iv) result in an imposition or creation of any Encumbrance, 
restriction or charge on the business or assets of any Seller Entity. 
 
         4.11     Consents and Approvals. No consent, approval or authorization 
of, or declaration, filing or registration with, any governmental or regulatory 
authority, or any other person or entity, is required to be made or obtained by 
any Seller Entity in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of 
this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. The 
Seller Entities have made all registrations or filings with any governmental 
authority required for the execution or delivery of this Agreement or the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. 
 
         4.12     Litigation. Except as set forth in the Disclosure Schedule, 
there is no action, order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree outstanding or 
claim, suit, litigation, proceeding, labor dispute, arbitral action or 
investigation (collectively, "Actions") pending or, to the knowledge of Seller, 
the Partnership, the Company or the LLC, threatened or anticipated against, 
relating to or affecting (i) the Company, (ii) Seller, (iii) the Partnership, 
(iv) any Subsidiary, (v) any benefit plan for Personnel or any fiduciary or 
administrator thereof or (vi) the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, 
that reasonably could be expected to result in payment of greater than Ten 
Thousand Dollars ($10,000) in damages by any Seller Entity. Neither Seller nor 
any Seller Entity is in violation of any applicable laws or regulations, other 
than violations that singly or in the aggregate do not, and, with the passage of 
time will not, have a Material Adverse Effect, and there are no unsatisfied 
judgments against Seller or any Seller Entity, or the business or activities of 
any Seller Entity. There is not a reasonable likelihood of an adverse 
determination of any pending Actions that would, individually or in the 
aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
         4.13     Labor Matters. No Seller Entity is a party to any collective 
bargaining agreement or other agreement governing the wages, hours or terms of 
employment of its employees. Except as set forth in section 4.13 of the 
Disclosure Schedule, no Seller Entity has experienced any attempt by organized 
labor or its representatives to make it conform to demands of organized labor 
relating to its employees or to enter into a binding agreement with organized 
labor that would cover the employees of the Seller Entity. To the best of the 
knowledge of Seller and the Seller Entities, the Seller Entities are in 
compliance with all applicable laws respecting employment practices and terms 
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and conditions of employment and wages and hours and are not engaged in any 
unfair labor practice. There is no unfair-labor-practice charge or complaint 
against any Seller Entity, or representation petition respecting any Seller 
Entity's employees, pending before the National Labor Relations Board or any 
other governmental agency, and Seller, the Company, the Partnership and the LLC 
have no knowledge of any facts or information that would give rise thereto. 
There is no labor strike, slowdown, work stoppage or labor disturbance pending 
or threatened against any Seller Entity, nor is any grievance currently being 
asserted. No Seller Entity has experienced a work stoppage or other labor 
difficulty since the inception of its business. 
 
         4.14     Liabilities. No Seller Entity has liabilities or obligations 
(absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise) except (i) liabilities that are 
reflected and reserved against on the Balance Sheets or (ii) liabilities 
incurred in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice 
since September 30, 2002. 
 
         4.15     Compliance with Law. Each Seller Entity has at all relevant 
times conducted its business in compliance with its articles of incorporation, 
bylaws or other charter documents and, to the best of the knowledge of Seller 
and the Seller Entities, all applicable laws and regulations. No Seller Entity 
is in violation of any applicable laws or regulations, other than violations 
that singly or in the aggregate do not, and, with the passage of time will not, 
have a Material Adverse Effect. No Seller Entity is subject to any outstanding 
order, writ, injunction or decree that materially and adversely affects its 
business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects, and no Seller 
Entity has been charged with, or threatened with a charge of, a violation of any 
provision of federal, state or local law or regulation. 
 
         4.16     Brokers. No Seller Entity has entered into or will enter into 
any agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person or firm that will 
result in the obligation of any Seller Entity or Seller to pay any finder's fee, 
brokerage commission or similar payment in connection with the transactions 
contemplated hereby. 
 
         4.17     No Other Agreements to Sell the Assets. Neither Seller nor any 
Seller Entity has any legal obligation, absolute or contingent, to any other 
person or firm to sell the Assets, to sell any capital stock or to effect any 
merger, consolidation or other reorganization of any Seller Entity or to enter 
into any agreement with respect thereto. 
 
         4.18     Proprietary Rights. All of the Seller Entities' registrations 
of trademarks, other marks and trade names, or other trade rights, patents and 
copyrights, and all applications related thereto, together with all other 
trademarks, other marks, trade names, other trade rights, trade secrets, 
designs, plans, specifications and other proprietary rights, whether or not 
registered (collectively, the "Proprietary Rights"), are listed in section 4.18 
of the Disclosure Schedule. Each of the Proprietary Rights is owned by a Seller 
Entity (or used by a Seller Entity pursuant to a valid and effective license 
agreement) free and clear of all Encumbrances. To the best of the knowledge of 
Seller and the Seller Entities, the Seller Entities' use of the Proprietary 
Rights does not create any conflict with or infringe upon any rights of any 
other person, and no claims of conflict or infringement have been asserted 
against any of the Seller Entities, except as described in the Disclosure 
Schedule. Section 4.18 of the Disclosure Schedule also describes all agreements, 
licenses, permits and other instruments under which the Seller Entities have (i) 
acquired or been granted or (ii) sold or granted a right to use any Proprietary 
Rights, together with a brief description of such Proprietary Rights. 
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         4.19     Status of Contracts. Each of the Contracts is valid, binding 
and enforceable by the applicable Seller Entity in accordance with its terms and 
is in full force and effect. There is no existing default or violation by any 
Seller Entity under any Contract, and no event has occurred that (whether with 
or without notice, lapse of time or both) would constitute a default of any 
Seller Entity under any Contract. There is no pending or threatened proceeding 
that would interfere with the quiet enjoyment of any leasehold of which any 
Seller Entity is lessee or sublessee. All other parties to the Contracts have 
consented or, prior to the Closing, will have consented (where such consent is 
necessary) to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement without requiring modification of the applicable Seller Entity's 
rights or obligations under any Contract. Except as would not reasonably be 
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on any Seller Entity, neither the 
Company, the Partnership, the LLC nor Seller is aware of any default by any 
other party to any Contract or of any event that (whether with or without 
notice, lapse of time or both) would constitute a default by any other party 
with respect to obligations of that party under any Contract, and, to the 
knowledge of the Company, the Partnership, the LLC and Seller, there are no 
facts indicating that any of the Contracts may be totally or partially 
terminated or suspended by the other parties. The Seller Entities are not party 
to, nor bound by, any contract or agreement that (i) except as would not 
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on any Seller Entity, 
the Company, the Partnership, the LLC or Seller can reasonably foresee will 
result in any loss to a Seller Entity upon the performance thereof (including 
any liability for penalties or damages, whether liquidated, direct, indirect, 
incidental or consequential) or (ii) is not terminable by the applicable Seller 
Entity on sixty (60) or fewer days' notice at any time, without penalty. 
 
         4.20     Employee Benefit Plans. 
 
                  4.20.1 Section 4.20 of the Disclosure Schedule lists all 
pension, retirement, profit-sharing, deferred compensation, bonus, commission, 
incentive, life insurance, health and disability benefits and all other employee 
benefit plans or arrangements (including, without limitation, any contracts or 
agreements with trustees, insurance companies or others relating to any such 
employee benefit plans or arrangements) for current or former employees, 
established or maintained by the Seller Entities, and complete and accurate 
copies of all those plans or arrangements have been provided to Buyer. 
 
                  4.20.2 The employee pension benefit plans (within the meaning 
of section 3(2) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as 
amended ("ERISA")), established and maintained by the Seller Entities that are 
subject to ERISA ("ERISA Pension Plans") and the employee welfare benefit plans 
(within the meaning of section 3(1) of ERISA) ("ERISA Welfare Benefit Plans") 
are listed separately as ERISA Pension Plans and ERISA Welfare Benefit Plans on 
section 4.20 of the Disclosure Schedule (together, the "ERISA Plans"). Except as 
would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on any Seller 
Entity, the ERISA Plans comply in all respects with the applicable requirements 
of ERISA. Seller has received from the Internal Revenue Service a favorable 
determination for each of the ERISA Pension Plans and their related trusts that 
each of the ERISA Pension Plans is qualified under section 401(a) of the Code 
and the related trust is tax-exempt under section 501(a) of the Code. Except as 
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would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on any Seller 
Entity, there has been no event subsequent to that determination that has 
adversely affected the tax-qualified status of the ERISA Pension Plans or the 
exemption of the related trusts, other than changes in the Code that are not 
effective as of the Closing Date. 
 
                  4.20.3 No "accumulated funding deficiency" as defined in 
section 302(a)(2) of ERISA or section 412(a) of the Code exists, or has existed, 
with respect to any of the ERISA Pension Plans. The present value of all accrued 
benefits under each of the ERISA Pension Plans does not exceed the value of such 
plan's assets, less all liabilities other than those attributable to accrued 
benefits. Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse 
Effect on any Seller Entity, the Seller Entities have no actual or potential 
"withdrawal liability" as defined in section 4201 of ERISA or any other 
liability on withdrawal from participation with respect to a "multiemployer 
plan" as defined in section 37(A) of ERISA, and there are no impediments to the 
Seller Entities' withdrawing from participation in such a multiemployer plan. 
The Seller Entities do not participate in any "multiple-employer welfare 
arrangement" as defined in section 40(A) of ERISA or in any ERISA Pension Plan 
maintained by multiple employers that are not members of the same controlled 
group of businesses, except for any multiemployer plan described above. 
 
                  4.20.4 Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a 
Material Adverse Effect on any Seller Entity, each ERISA Welfare Benefit Plan 
providing for health benefits is eligible for tax exclusion under sections 105 
and 106 of the Code; each ERISA Welfare Benefit Plan providing life insurance is 
eligible for tax exclusion under section 79 of the Code; each ERISA Welfare 
Benefit Plan that is a cafeteria plan is eligible for tax exclusion under 
section 125 of the Code; each trust funding an ERISA Welfare Benefit Fund is 
tax-qualified under section 501(c)(9) of the Code; none of the ERISA Plans, its 
related trusts or any trustee, investment manager or administrator thereof has 
engaged in nonexempt "prohibited transactions," as such term is defined in 
section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code; there are not and have not 
been any excess deferrals or excess contributions under any ERISA Pension Plan; 
there are not and have not been any taxable reversions of assets from any ERISA 
Plan; and each ERISA Plan is and has been operated and administered in 
conformance with the requirements of all applicable laws and regulations, 
whether or not the ERISA Plan documents have been amended to reflect such 
requirements. 
 
                  4.20.5 The Seller Entities have no obligation of any kind 
(whether under the terms of the ERISA Plans or under any contract or 
understanding with any employees or with an employee individually) to make 
payments under, or to pay contributions to, any plan, agreement or other 
arrangement for deferred compensation, whether or not the arrangement is 
qualified for favorable tax treatment under section 401(a) or related provisions 
of the Code, including, without limitation, a single-employer tax-qualified 
retirement plan, a tax-qualified retirement plan of a controlled group of 
corporations, a multiemployer pension plan, a nonqualified deferred compensation 
plan, an individual employment or compensation agreement or a commitment to 
provide health benefit or death benefit coverage to retirees. 
 
         4.21     Transactions with Seller. Except as set forth in section 4.21 
of the Disclosure Schedule, neither Seller nor any officer or director of any 
Seller Entity (i) has any material interest in any property, real or personal, 
tangible or intangible, used in or pertaining to the Seller Entity's business, 
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or (ii) is currently a party to any transactions with a Seller Entity, 
including, without limitation, any contract, agreement or other arrangement (A) 
providing for the furnishing of services by, (B) providing for the rental of 
real or personal property from or (C) otherwise requiring payments (other than 
for services as an employee of a Seller Entity) to such person (or any entity in 
which such person has an interest as a shareholder, officer, director, trustee 
or partner). The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement 
will not (either alone or upon the occurrence of any act or event, or with the 
lapse of time, or both) result in any payment (severance or other) becoming due 
from a Seller Entity to any of its shareholders, officers, directors or 
employees (or any entity owned or controlled by one or more of such persons). 
 
         4.22     Tax Matters. 
 
                  4.22.1 Returns. The Seller Entities have timely filed all 
federal, state, local, foreign and other returns, reports, information returns 
and declarations of estimated tax required to be filed by them with respect to 
Taxes (as defined in section 4.22.5 below), including, without limitation, 
returns or reports with respect to backup withholding and other payments to 
third parties (collectively, the "Returns"), and have timely paid all Taxes 
shown to be due on (or required to have been shown on) the Returns or otherwise 
required to be paid with respect to any period prior to the date of this 
Agreement. The Seller Entities are not and never have been part of an affiliated 
group of corporations that files consolidated tax returns pursuant to section 
1501 of the Code or any similar provisions of state, local or foreign law. No 
extensions of time have been requested for Returns that have not been filed. The 
federal and state income tax Returns of the Seller Entities have been examined 
by the applicable taxing authorities, or the applicable statutory periods of 
limitation have expired, for all periods to and including those in section 4.22 
of the Disclosure Schedule, and, except as set forth in section 4.22 of the 
Disclosure Schedule, the Seller Entities have not received any notice of audit 
and there are no outstanding agreements or waivers extending the applicable 
statutory periods of limitation for such Taxes for any period. All Returns filed 
are complete and accurate in all material respects, and no additional Taxes are 
owed by the Seller Entities with respect to the periods covered by the Returns. 
The Seller Entities have disclosed on their federal income tax Returns all 
positions taken that could give rise to a substantial understatement penalty 
within the meaning of Code section 6662. The Seller Entities have provided Buyer 
with complete and accurate copies of the Company's federal and state income or 
franchise tax returns for 1998 through 2002. 
 
                  4.22.2 Taxes Paid or Reserved. All deficiencies in Taxes 
asserted or assessments made by any taxing authority have been fully paid or 
finally settled. The reserves for Taxes reflected in the Financial Statements 
(excluding any reserve for deferred Taxes established to reflect timing 
differences between book and tax income) are adequate for payment of Taxes with 
respect to the Seller Entities for the period ending on or before the date of 
the Financial Statements, and such reserves, as adjusted for the passage of time 
through the Closing Date in accordance with the past custom and practice of the 
Seller Entities, will be adequate for payment of all unpaid Taxes for the period 
ending on or before the Closing Date. All reserves for Taxes are and will be 
determined in accordance with generally accepted U.S. accounting principles 
consistently applied. All Taxes that the Seller Entities have been required to 
collect or withhold have been withheld or collected and, to the extent required, 
have been or will be paid to the proper taxing authority. There are no liens on 
any of the assets of the Seller Entities with respect to Taxes, other than liens 
for Taxes not yet due and payable or for Taxes that the Seller Entities are 
contesting in good faith and for which the Seller Entities have established 
adequate reserves. 
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                  4.22.3 Tax Attributes. Section 4.22 of the Disclosure Schedule 
contains an accurate and complete description of the following: all material 
elections with respect to Taxes affecting the Seller Entities; each Seller 
Entity's basis in its assets; the Seller Entities' current and accumulated 
earnings and profits; and the amounts of any net operating loss, net capital 
loss, unused investment or other credit, unused foreign tax or excess charitable 
contribution allocable to the Seller Entities. The Seller Entities have no net 
operating losses or other tax attributes currently subject to limitation under 
sections 382, 383 or 384 of the Code. 
 
                  4.22.4 Miscellaneous. No Seller Entity is or has been a party 
to any tax-sharing agreement or has assumed the tax liability of any person 
pursuant to a contract. No Seller Entity is required to make any adjustments 
under section 481(a) of the Code by reason of a change in accounting method or 
otherwise. No Seller Entity is a party to a "safe harbor lease" within the 
meaning of section 168(f)(8) of the Code, as in effect prior to amendment by the 
Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982. No Seller Entity has elected 
to be treated as a consenting corporation pursuant to section 341(f) of the 
Code. None of the assets of the Seller Entities (i) directly or indirectly 
secures any debt on which the interest is exempt from tax under section 103(a) 
of the Code or (ii) is "tax-exempt use property" as defined in section 168(h) of 
the Code. The Seller Entities have not participated in an "international 
boycott" as defined in section 999 of the Code. The Seller Entities have not 
made, are not obligated to make and are not party to any agreement that could 
obligate any of them to make any "excess parachute payments" as defined in 
section 280G of the Code. Each of the Seller Entities is a "United States 
person" as defined in section 7701(a)(30) of the Code. No Seller Entity is or 
has been (i) a "United States real property holding corporation" as defined in 
section 897(c)(2) of the Code during the applicable period specified in section 
897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code or (ii) a "reporting corporation" as defined in 
section 6038A(a) of the Code. 
 
                  4.22.5 Definition. "Taxes" means all taxes, charges, fees, 
levies or other assessments, including, without limitation, income, payroll, 
employment, unemployment, social security, workers' compensation, withholding, 
stamp, environmental, excise, property, sales, use and franchise taxes, imposed 
by the United States or any state, county, local or foreign government or 
subdivision or agency thereof, and including any interest, penalties and 
additions. 
 
         4.23     Employment Agreements and Compensation. Each of the employees 
of the Seller Entities is an "at-will" employee, and there are no written 
employment, commission or compensation agreements of any kind between the Seller 
Entities and any of their employees. Section 4.23 of the Disclosure Schedule 
lists all the Company's employment or supervisory manuals, employment or 
supervisory policies and written information generally provided to employees 
(such as applications or notices), and true and complete copies of those 
manuals, policies and written information have been provided to Buyer. The 
Company does not have any agreements or understandings with its employees, 
except as reflected in the items listed in section 4.23 of the Disclosure 
Schedule. Section 4.23 of the Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and 
accurate list of all directors, officers, employees and, to the extent they 
receive compensation greater than Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) from the Seller 
Entities, consultants of the Seller Entities as of November 1, 2002, specifying 
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their names and job designations; the total amount paid or payable as 
compensation to each such person and the basis of such compensation, whether 
fixed or commission or a combination thereof; and accrued benefits for such 
persons as of November 1, 2002. 
 
         4.24     Insurance. Section 4.24 of the Disclosure Schedule contains a 
complete and accurate list of all policies or binders of fire, liability, 
workers' compensation and other forms of insurance (showing as to each policy or 
binder the carrier, policy number, coverage limits and expiration dates and a 
general description of the type of coverage provided) maintained by the Seller 
Entities on their business, property or Personnel. All such policies are 
sufficient for compliance with all requirements of law and of all Contracts to 
which the Seller Entities are parties. No Seller Entity is in default under any 
of such policies or binders, and the Seller Entities have not failed to give any 
notice or to present any claim under any such policy or binder in a due and 
timely fashion. To the best of the Company's, Seller's, the Partnership's and 
the LLC's knowledge, there are no facts upon which an insurer might be justified 
in reducing coverage or increasing premiums on existing policies or binders. 
There are no outstanding unpaid claims of greater than Ten Thousand Dollars 
($10,000) or premiums (other than unpaid premiums for future periods, which 
premiums have been properly accounted for on the Financial Statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied) 
under any such policies or binders, and no notice of cancellation or termination 
has been received with respect to any such policy or binder. Such policies and 
binders provide sufficient coverage for the risks insured against; are valid, 
enforceable and in full force and effect; and shall be valid, enforceable and in 
full force and effect through the Closing Date. The Seller Entities have not 
been refused any insurance coverage, and no insurance coverage has been 
cancelled during the ten (10) years preceding the date of this Agreement. 
 
         4.25     Receivables. The receivables of the Seller Entities (including 
accounts receivable, loans receivable and advances) reflected in the Financial 
Statements, and all accounts receivable arising since December 31, 2001, 
represent bona fide claims against debtors for sales, services performed or 
other charges arising in the ordinary course of business on or before the date 
hereof, and all the goods delivered and services performed that gave rise to 
said accounts were delivered or performed in accordance with the applicable 
orders, Contracts or customer requirements. Said receivable are not subject to 
any defenses, counterclaims or rights of setoff and shall be fully collected 
when due or, in the case of each account receivable, within thirty (30) days 
after it arose, without resort to litigation and without offset or counterclaim, 
except to the extent of normal allowance for doubtful accounts with respect to 
accounts receivable, consistent with the Company's prior practices, as reflected 
in the Financial Statements. 
 
         4.26     Inventories. The values at which inventories (including any 
work in progress) are shown on the Balance Sheets have been determined in 
accordance with the normal valuation policies of the Seller Entities, 
consistently applied and in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. The inventories (and items of inventory acquired or manufactured 
subsequent to November 30, 2002) consist only of items of quality and quantity 
commercially usable and salable in the ordinary course of business, except for 
any items of obsolete material or material below standard quality, all of which 
have been written down to realizable market value or for which adequate reserves 
have been provided, and the present quantities of all inventories are reasonable 
in the present circumstances of the Seller Entities' business. 
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         4.27     Purchase Commitments and Outstanding Bids. Except for the 
orders, contracts and commitments set forth in section 4.27 of the Disclosure 
Schedule, the aggregate of all contracts or commitments for the purchase of 
supplies (including, without limitation, materials generally used in the 
operation of the business) by any Seller Entity does not exceed Fifty Thousand 
Dollars ($50,000), all of which orders, contracts and commitments were made in 
the ordinary course of business. Seller, the Company, the Partnership and the 
LLC have no notice of any claims against the Seller Entities to return 
merchandise by reason of alleged overshipments, defective merchandise or 
otherwise, or of any merchandise in the hands of customers under an 
understanding that such merchandise would be returnable. No outstanding purchase 
or outstanding lease commitment of any of the Seller Entities is currently in 
excess of the normal, ordinary and usual requirements of its business, was made 
at any price in excess of the now current market price or contains terms and 
conditions more onerous than those usual and customary in the Seller Entities' 
business. There is no outstanding bid, proposal, Contract or unfilled order of 
the Seller Entities that will or would, if accepted, have a Material Adverse 
Effect. 
 
         4.28     Payments. Neither Seller nor any person or other entity has, 
directly or indirectly, on behalf of or with respect to any Seller Entity or its 
business or operations, paid or delivered any fee, commission or other sum of 
money or item or property, however characterized, to any finder, agent, 
government official or other party, which payment or delivery was illegal under 
any federal, state or local laws of the United States or any other country 
having jurisdiction; no Seller Entity has participated, directly or indirectly, 
in any boycotts or other similar practices affecting any of its actual or 
potential customers; and the Seller Entities have at all times done business in 
an open and ethical manner. 
 
         4.29     Environmental Conditions. 
 
                  4.29.1 Definitions. 
 
                        (i) "Environmental Law" means any federal, state or 
local statute, regulation or ordinance pertaining to the environment or to the 
control, handling, treatment and disposal of Hazardous Substances as the same is 
in effect on the date of this Agreement (or enacted after the date of this 
Agreement) and as may be amended, modified or reinterpreted after the date of 
this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the Clean Air Act; the federal 
Water Pollution Control Act; the Comprehensive Environmental Response, 
Compensation and Liability Act; the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act 
("RCRA"); the Toxic Substances Control Act; the Emergency Planning and Community 
Right to Know Act; the Occupational Safety and Health Act; and any regulations 
under those statutes. 
 
                        (ii) "Hazardous Substance" means any hazardous, toxic, 
radioactive or infectious substance, pollutant, material or waste as defined, 
listed or regulated under any Environmental Law, and includes, without 
limitation, petroleum oil and its fractions. 
 
                        (iii) "Contamination" (or "Contaminated") means the 
presence (actual or reasonably suspected) of Hazardous Substances in, on or 
under the soil, groundwater, surface water or other environmental media or any 
structure or improvement, if any investigatory, remedial, removal, reporting or 
other response action is required or legally could be required by a governmental 
authority under any Environmental Law with respect to such presence or suspected 
presence of Hazardous Substances. 
 
                                       24 



 
                  4.29.2 Environmental Conditions. Except as specifically 
described in section 4.29 of the Disclosure Schedule or as may not, individually 
or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on 
any Seller Entity; 
 
                        (i) Each Seller Entity is and has been in compliance 
with all applicable Environmental Laws, including, without limitation, the 
possession of all permits, licenses and authorizations required under applicable 
Environmental Laws (collectively, "Environmental Permits") and compliance with 
their terms and conditions. Each Seller Entity has made all reports and given 
all notices required by Environmental Laws. All Environmental Permits necessary 
for the operation of the business of the Seller Entities under Environmental 
Laws are listed in the Disclosure Schedule; 
 
                        (ii) No civil, criminal or administrative suit, claim, 
action or proceeding is pending, and no Seller Entity is aware of any pending 
investigation under any Environmental Law relating to any operations, property 
or facility owned, operated or leased, or previously owned, operated or leased, 
by such Seller Entity or by any predecessor of such Seller Entity, or relating 
to any location at or to which Seller or any predecessor company has disposed 
of, transported or arranged for the disposal of Hazardous Substances. There are 
no outstanding orders, judgments or decrees of any court or of any governmental 
agency or instrumentality under any Environmental Law that specifically apply to 
Seller or any of Seller's assets or operations; 
 
                        (iii) No Seller Entity has received from any 
governmental entity or any other person notice that such Seller Entity has been 
named or may be named as a responsible or potentially responsible party under 
any Environmental Law for any site contaminated by Hazardous Substances, nor has 
any Seller Entity received a request for information about any such site; 
 
                        (iv) No portion of any property currently owned, leased 
or occupied by the Seller Entities is Contaminated, and no Contamination 
occurred during the Seller Entities', or, to the best of the knowledge of Seller 
and the Seller Entities, any predecessor's of the Seller Entities, prior 
ownership, lease or occupancy of other property; 
 
                        (v) The Seller Entities are not liable under the 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act or any 
comparable state or federal Environmental Law for investigation, remediation, 
removal or other response costs; natural-resources damages; or other claims 
(including administrative orders) arising out of the release or threatened 
release of any Hazardous Substance; 
 
                        (vi) No Seller Entity has assumed the liability of any 
other person or entity for, nor has any Seller Entity agreed to indemnify any 
other person or entity against, claims arising out of the release of Hazardous 
Substances into the environment or other claims under Environmental Laws; 
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                        (vii) During the past three (3) years, no governmental 
entity has issued any citation or notice of violation or noncompliance under any 
Environmental Law to the Seller Entities, except enforcement actions that have 
been finally resolved for damages, penalties and settlement payments totaling 
less than Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000); 
 
                        (viii) The Seller Entities have not compromised or 
released any insurance policies, or waived any rights under insurance policies, 
that may provide coverage for liabilities under Environmental Laws or 
liabilities or damages otherwise arising out of the release of Hazardous 
Substances into the environment; 
 
                        (ix) None of the buildings, structures, fixtures or 
equipment owned, leased or occupied by the Seller Entities contain any urea 
formaldehyde foam insulation, polychlorinated biphenyls in concentrations 
greater than fifty (50) parts per million (including in any electrical 
equipment), asbestos in concentrations greater than one percent (1%) by weight 
or any other Hazardous Substance that is prohibited or regulated when present in 
buildings, structures, fixtures or equipment; 
 
                        (x) The Seller Entities do not own or operate any of the 
following, and none of the following are located on any property owned, leased 
or occupied by any Seller Entity or have been located on any property previously 
owned, leased or occupied by any Seller Entity or any predecessor of any Seller 
Entity: (i) underground storage tank (whether or not in use or decommissioned 
and whether regulated or exempt from regulation); (ii) underground injection 
well as defined under any Environmental Law; (iii) surface impoundment or 
lagoon; (iv) landfill or any other land-based treatment, storage or disposal 
unit for any type of waste (whether closed or currently active); (v) 
hazardous-waste treatment, storage or disposal facility regulated under RCRA, as 
amended, or under any comparable Environmental Law; (vi) any waste management or 
process unit that would be, or might reasonably be construed as, a 
hazardous-waste treatment, storage or disposal facility but for an exception or 
exclusion under RCRA or any comparable Environmental Law; or (vii) any 
radioactive material for which a license or permit (including general permits 
and permits by rule) is required under any Environmental Law; 
 
                        (xi) Each of Seller, the Company, the Partnership and 
the LLC has made available to Buyer true, complete and correct copies of any 
reports, studies, investigations, audits, analysis, tests and monitoring results 
in the possession of or initiated or prepared by the Seller Entities and 
pertaining to any environmental matter relating to the Seller Entities, their 
past or present operations or any property currently or previously owned, leased 
or occupied by the Seller Entities, including, without limitation, compliance 
with Environmental Laws, employee safety or Contamination; and 
 
                        (xii) To the best of the knowledge of Seller and the 
Seller Entities, none of the Facilities is located on or near any area that is 
or may be considered a wetland under the federal Clean Water Act (33 USC ss. 
1251, et seq.) or under any other Environmental Law. 
 
         4.30     Warranties and Liability. Section 4.30 of the Disclosure 
Schedule contains the Seller Entities' standard forms of sales contract and 
product warranty. The Seller Entities have not undertaken any performance 
obligations or made any warranties or guarantees with respect to their products 
other than those disclosed in section 4.30 of the Disclosure Schedule, and the 
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aggregate cost to the Seller Entities to comply with the terms of their sales 
contracts and warranties has not exceeded and will not exceed Fifty Thousand 
Dollars ($50,000) per year. The goods produced or sold by the Seller Entities 
(i) are, and at all times have been, in compliance in all material respects with 
all applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations and (ii) are, and 
at all relevant times have been, fit for the ordinary purposes for which they 
are intended to be used and conform in all material respects to any promises or 
affirmations of fact made in the warranty or in connection with their sale, 
whether through advertising or otherwise. There are no rights of return or other 
agreements between any of the Seller Entities and any customer thereof that 
would cause any sales reflected in such Seller Entity's financial statements for 
the nine (9) month period ending September 30, 2002 to fail to qualify as sales 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles or such Seller 
Entity's revenue recognition policy as reflected in the Financial Statements. 
Sales to customers of the Seller Entities' goods are made with adequate 
warnings, presented in a reasonably prominent manner, in accordance with 
applicable laws and current industry practice with respect to contents and use. 
Since September 30, 2002, the Seller Entities have not recalled any goods sold, 
and there is no reasonable basis known to the Company, the Partnership, the LLC 
or Seller for any such recall on or after the Closing Date. 
 
         4.31     Permits and Licenses. Section 4.31 of the Disclosure Schedule 
contains a complete and correct list of all governmental licenses, permits, 
franchises, easements and authorizations (collectively, "Permits") held by the 
Seller Entities. The Seller Entities hold, and at all times have held, all 
Permits necessary for the lawful conduct of their business pursuant to all 
applicable statutes, laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of all governmental 
bodies, agencies and other authorities having jurisdiction over them or any part 
of their operations, except where the failure to hold any Permit, singly or in 
the aggregate, either alone or with the giving of notice or the passage of time 
or both, would not have a Material Adverse Effect. The Seller Entities are in 
compliance with all the terms of each Permit, and no Seller Entity has received 
notice or has knowledge of any claim of material violation by any Seller Entity 
of any Permit. Complete and accurate copies of all Permits have been delivered 
to Buyer. All applicable governmental entities and agencies that have issued any 
Permits have consented or, prior to the Closing, will have consented (where such 
consent is necessary) to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by 
this Agreement, without requiring modification of the Seller Entities' rights or 
obligations under such Permits. 
 
         4.32     Undisclosed Liabilities. The Seller Entities do not have any 
liability or obligation (whether absolute, accrued, contingent or other, and 
whether due or to become due) that is not accrued, reserved against or disclosed 
in the Balance Sheets, other than liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of 
business and consistent with past practice since the date of the Financial 
Statements, that individually or in the aggregate are not material to the Seller 
Entities. 
 
         4.33     Bank Accounts. Section 4.33 of the Disclosure Schedule 
contains a complete and accurate list of all the banks or other financial 
institutions at which the Seller Entities maintain accounts or safe deposit 
boxes, together with numbers of such accounts and boxes and the names of the 
persons authorized to draw thereon or permitted access thereto. All cash in such 
accounts is held in demand deposits and is not subject to any restriction or 
limitation as to withdrawal. 
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         4.34     Records. The books of account, minute books, financial books, 
purchase and sale records, safety and compliance records, stock certificate 
books and stock transfer ledgers (collectively, the "Records") of the Seller 
Entities are complete and accurate in all material respects, and there have been 
no transactions involving the business of the Seller Entities that properly 
should have been set forth therein and have not been accurately so set forth. 
Complete and accurate copies of the Records have been made available to Buyer. 
The Seller Entities have no written or formal document-retention policy. All 
Seller Entities have retained all material Records since January 1, 1998, except 
as described in section 4.34 of the Disclosure Schedule. Seller, the Company, 
the Partnership and the LLC shall ensure that the Seller Entities retain all 
material Records through the Closing Date. 
 
         4.35     Misstatements or Omissions. No representations or warranties 
by Seller, the Partnership, the Company or the LLC in this Agreement, nor any 
document, exhibit, statement, certificate or schedule furnished to Buyer 
pursuant hereto, or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, 
contains or will contain any untrue statement of a material fact, or omits or 
will omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements or facts 
contained therein not misleading. To the best of the Company's, the 
Partnership's, the LLC's and Seller's knowledge, Seller, the Partnership, the 
Company and the LLC have disclosed all events, conditions and facts materially 
affecting the business, prospects and financial condition of the Seller 
Entities. 
 
5.       Representations, Warranties and Covenants of Buyer. As a material 
inducement to Seller to enter into this Agreement and consummate the 
transactions contemplated hereby, Buyer hereby represents and warrants to Seller 
that all of the statements contained in this Section 5 are correct and complete 
in all material respects as of the Closing Date: 
 
         5.1      Organization. Buyer is duly organized, validly existing and in 
good standing under the laws of the State of Oregon and has full corporate power 
and authority to conduct its business. Buyer is duly qualified to do business as 
a foreign corporation and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which such 
qualification is necessary under the applicable law as a result of the conduct 
of its business or the ownership of its properties, except where the failure to 
so qualify would not have a material adverse effect on Buyer. All of Buyer's 
issued and outstanding shares of common stock have been duly authorized and 
validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable. 
 
         5.2      Authorization. Buyer has all necessary authority to enter into 
this Agreement and has taken all necessary action to consummate the transactions 
contemplated hereby and to perform its obligations hereunder. This Agreement has 
been duly executed and delivered by Buyer and is a valid and binding obligation 
of Buyer, enforceable against Buyer in accordance with the terms hereof. 
 
         5.3      Consents and Approvals. No consent, approval or authorization 
of, or declaration, filing or registration with, any United States federal or 
state governmental or regulatory authority is required to be made or obtained by 
Buyer in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this 
Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. 
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         5.4      No Brokers. Neither Buyer nor any affiliate of Buyer has 
entered into or will enter into any agreement, arrangement or understanding with 
any person or firm that will result in the obligation of Seller to pay any 
finder's fee, brokerage commission or similar payment in connection with the 
transactions contemplated hereby. 
 
         5.5      No Conflict or Violation. Neither the execution and delivery 
of this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby 
will result in (i) a violation of or a conflict with any provision of Buyer's 
Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws; (ii) a breach of, or a default under, any 
term or provision of any contract, agreement, indebtedness, encumbrance, 
commitment, license, franchise, permit, authorization or concession to which 
Buyer is a party; or (iii) to the best of Buyer's knowledge, a violation by 
Buyer of any statue, rule, regulation, ordinance, code, order, judgment, writ, 
injunction, decree or award. 
 
         5.6      Litigation. Except for the eComm Litigation, there is no 
Action pending or, to the knowledge of Buyer, threatened or anticipated against, 
related to or affecting (i) Buyer or (ii) the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement. Buyer is not in default with respect to any judgment, order, writ, 
injunction or decree of any court or governmental agency, and there are no 
unsatisfied judgments against Buyer. 
 
6.       Covenants. Seller, the Company, the Partnership, the LLC and Buyer, as 
the case may be, covenant as follows: 
 
         6.1      Maintenance of Business. During the period between the date 
this Agreement is executed and the Closing Date, the Company, the Partnership 
and the LLC shall each diligently carry on its business and the businesses of 
all other Seller Entities in the ordinary course of business and consistent with 
past practice. 
 
         6.2      Release of Personal Guarantee. Section 6.2 of the Disclosure 
Schedule lists all obligations of the Seller Entities that Seller has personally 
guaranteed. Buyer will use its best efforts to obtain a full release of each of 
such personal guarantees. At the request of Buyer, Seller will use his 
reasonable best efforts to assist Buyer in obtaining said releases. In the event 
Seller or Buyer discovers at any time after the Closing that Seller has 
personally guaranteed any obligation of any Seller Entity, then Buyer shall use 
all reasonable efforts to obtain a full release of such personal guarantee, and 
Seller shall use his reasonable efforts to assist Buyer in obtaining said 
release. 
 
         6.3      Certain Prohibited Transactions. From the date of this 
Agreement through the Closing Date, no Seller Entity shall, without the prior 
written consent of Buyer: 
 
                  6.3.1 other than loans or advances by the Partnership to any 
Seller Entity or by any Seller Entity to the Partnership or to any other Seller 
Entity consistent with past practices, incur any indebtedness for borrowed 
money; assume, guarantee, endorse or otherwise become responsible for 
obligations of any other individual, partnership, firm or corporation; or make 
any loans or advances to any individual, partnership, firm or corporation; 
 
                  6.3.2 issue any shares of its capital stock, other equity 
interests or any other securities, or issue any securities convertible into 
shares of its capital stock or other equity interests, or into any other 
securities; 
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                  6.3.3 pay or incur any obligation to pay any dividend on its 
capital stock, or make or incur any obligation to make any distribution or 
redemption with respect to its capital stock or other equity interests, except 
in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice; provided, 
however, that no Seller Entity shall pay or incur any obligation to pay any 
dividend, or make any distribution or redemption, to Seller after the Effective 
Date; 
 
                  6.3.4 make any change to its Articles of Incorporation, 
Bylaws, Partnership Agreement or other charter documents; 
 
                  6.3.5 mortgage, pledge or otherwise encumber any of its 
properties or assets; sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of its 
properties or assets; or cancel, release or assign any indebtedness owed to it 
or any claims held by it, except in the ordinary course of business and 
consistent with past practice; 
 
                  6.3.6 except as set forth in section 6.3.6 of the Disclosure 
Schedule, make any investment greater than Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars 
($25,000) of a capital nature by purchase of stock or securities, contributions 
to capital, property transfer or otherwise, or by the purchase of any property 
or assets of any other individual, partnership, firm or corporation; 
 
                  6.3.7 enter into or terminate any contract or agreement, or 
make any material change in any of its leases and contracts, other than in the 
ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice; 
 
                  6.3.8 do any other act that would cause any representation or 
warranty of Seller, the Partnership, the LLC or the Company in this Agreement to 
be or become untrue in any material respect; 
 
                  6.3.9 take any action described above in Section 4.6; 
 
                  6.3.10 increase any admission prices charged to any Seller 
Entity's customers to greater than Two Dollars ($2.00) or increase parts prices 
charged to any Seller Entity's customers by more than seven percent (7%) in the 
aggregate; or 
 
                  6.3.11 authorize or permit Seller to do any of the foregoing 
on behalf of or for the benefit of any Seller Entity. 
 
         6.4      Investigation by Buyer. During the period between the date 
this Agreement is executed and the Closing Date, Seller, the Partnership, the 
LLC and the Company shall allow Buyer, during regular business hours and such 
other times as Buyer may agree upon with a Facility site manager, and through 
Buyer or Buyer's agents and Representatives, to make such investigation of the 
business, properties, books and records of the Seller Entities, and to conduct 
such examination of the condition of the Company, the LLC or the Partnership, as 
Buyer deems necessary or advisable to familiarize itself with such business, 
properties, books, records, condition and other matters, including, without 
limitation, such environmental studies and sampling as Buyer reasonably deems 
advisable to determine the environmental condition of the Facilities; to 
identify any facts, matters or conditions that Buyer may deem material; and to 
verify the representations and warranties of Seller, the Partnership, the LLC 
and the Company hereunder. The parties acknowledge that access to the leased 
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Facilities to conduct environmental sampling, testing and due diligence may be 
subject to the consent of the lessors of such Facilities. Seller, the 
Partnership, the Company and the LLC shall use best efforts to obtain such 
consents. If any such landlord fails to provide any such consent, Buyer shall 
have the right to terminate this Agreement and to prompt return of the Earnest 
Money, plus interest thereon, as set forth in Section 2.2.1. Buyer shall not 
contact customers or suppliers of the Company, the LLC or the Partnership to 
discuss this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, without the 
consent of Seller, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed; 
provided, however, that this restriction shall not preclude Buyer or Buyer's 
affiliates from contacting such customers or suppliers for matters unrelated to 
this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby. 
 
         6.5      Consents and Best Efforts. Seller, the Partnership, the 
Company and the LLC will, as soon as possible, take all action required to 
obtain all consents, approvals and agreements of, and to give all notices and 
make any filings with, any third parties, including governmental authorities, 
necessary to authorize, approve or permit the full and complete sale, 
conveyance, assignment or transfer of all of the Stock and the Interest. In 
addition, subject to the terms and conditions herein provided, each of the 
parties hereto covenants and agrees to use his or its best efforts to take, or 
cause to be taken, all action or do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, 
proper or advisable under applicable laws and regulations to consummate and make 
effective the transactions contemplated hereby and to cause the fulfillment of 
the parties' obligations hereunder. 
 
         6.6      Notification of Certain Matters. During the period between the 
date this Agreement is executed and the Closing Date, Seller, the Company, the 
Partnership and the LLC shall give prompt notice to Buyer, and Buyer shall give 
prompt notice to Seller, of (i) the occurrence or failure to occur of any event 
at any time from the date hereof to the Closing Date, which occurrence or 
failure would be likely to cause any representation or warranty contained in 
this Agreement to be untrue or inaccurate in any material respect and (ii) any 
material failure of Seller, the Partnership, the Company, the LLC or Buyer, as 
the case may be, to comply with or satisfy any covenant, condition or agreement 
to be complied with or satisfied by it hereunder, and each party shall use all 
reasonable efforts to remedy any such failure or occurrence. 
 
         6.7      Further Assurances. On and after the Closing Date, the parties 
hereto will take all appropriate action and execute all documents, instruments 
or conveyances of any kind that may be reasonably necessary or advisable to 
carry out any of the provisions hereof and the transactions contemplated hereby, 
including, without limitation, putting Buyer in possession and operating control 
of the business of the Company, the Partnership and the LLC. The parties shall 
cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably requested by any other party, 
in connection with the filing of tax returns filed after the Closing Date and 
any audit, litigation or other proceeding with respect to the Seller Entities 
and relating to any period before the Closing Date. Such cooperation shall 
include the retention and (upon another party's request) the provision of 
records and information that are reasonably relevant to any such audit, 
litigation or other proceeding and making employees available on a mutually 
convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any 
material provided hereunder. The parties agree to retain all books and records 
with respect to tax matters pertinent to the Seller Entities and relating to any 
taxable period beginning before the Closing Date, until the expiration of the 
statutory periods of limitation for the respective taxable periods. 
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         6.8      Operational Control. From the Closing Date through January 31, 
2004, Buyer shall allow, and take all actions necessary to enable, Seller to 
exercise the same operational control over and management discretion concerning 
the Company, the Partnership and the LLC as exists on the date of this 
Agreement; provided, however, that Seller's right to exercise such operational 
control and management discretion under this Section 6.8 shall terminate 
automatically in the event of any termination of Seller's employment for cause, 
or any voluntary termination by Seller of his employment, under the Employment 
Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit B. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Buyer's 
consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, shall be required 
before Seller takes any of the following actions: 
 
                  6.8.1 incurrence of indebtedness by any Seller Entity, other 
than indebtedness to any other Seller Entity or to trade creditors incurred in 
the ordinary course of such Seller Entity's business; 
 
                  6.8.2 encumbrance of any property of any Seller Entity; 
 
                  6.8.3 adoption of budgets for the Company, the Partnership or 
the LLC; incurrence by the Company, the Partnership or the LLC of any category 
of expense not authorized by a budget approved by Buyer, or change to an 
approved budget that will cause the aggregate amount of increased costs arising 
out of all changes not approved by Buyer to exceed budgeted expenses by ten 
percent (10%) or more in the aggregate; or failure to incur expenses and achieve 
revenues in amounts equal to ninety percent (90%) or more of budgeted expenses 
and revenues, respectively; 
 
                  6.8.4 acquisition of any real property interest, including 
entry into any lease; 
 
                  6.8.5 initiation or settlement of any claim in an amount 
greater than Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000); 
 
                  6.8.6 appointment of auditors or counsel for the Company, the 
Partnership or the LLC; 
 
                  6.8.7 entry into any contract providing either for payment by 
the Company, the Partnership or the LLC, or for receipt by the Company or the 
Partnership of more than Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000) in the aggregate; 
 
                  6.8.8 sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge or other 
transfer or disposition of the property of a Seller Entity, other than sales of 
inventory in the ordinary course of business and sales of replaced equipment 
having a value individually of less than Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000); 
 
                  6.8.9 any merger involving the Company, the Partnership or the 
LLC; 
 
                  6.8.10 any change in the business of any Seller Entity; 
 
                  6.8.11 any act in contravention of this Agreement; 
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                  6.8.12 any increase in admission prices charged to any Seller 
Entity's customers to greater than Two Dollars ($2.00) or increase in parts 
prices charged to any Seller Entity's customers by more than seven percent (7%) 
in the aggregate at any of the Facilities; 
 
                  6.8.13 maintenance of inventory levels of the Seller Entities 
other than in accordance with the Seller Entities' past practices, including, 
without limitation, reducing to less than full the inventory levels of customer 
areas of the Facilities and bidding on cars or selling cars or scrap other than 
in accordance with the Seller Entities' past practices; 
 
                  6.8.14 any election with respect to Taxes; 
 
                  6.8.15 maintenance of Facilities and Assets other than in 
accordance with prudent industry practices and past practices of the Seller 
Entities; 
 
                  6.8.16 make or cause to be made repairs of the Assets and any 
new equipment and facilities, other than in an expeditious manner and in 
accordance with prudent industry practice and the Seller Entities' past 
practice; or 
 
                  6.8.17 hire or offer to hire any employee of any Seller Entity 
if such employee could reasonably be expected to earn salary of greater than 
$35,000 in the aggregate in any twelve-month period, or is or is intended to be 
a member of the management team hired in connection with any expansion of the 
business of the Company, the Partnership or the LLC. 
 
6.9      Noncompetition and Nonsolicitation Agreement. 
 
                  6.9.1 In consideration of Buyer's entering into this 
Agreement, the mutual promises, the transfer of the goodwill of the business, 
payment by Buyer to Seller of the amount set forth below and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, Seller agrees that during the period from the Closing Date until 
the date that is five (5) years after January 31, 2004 or, if the Employment 
Agreement between Seller and the Partnership is extended, the date that is five 
(5) years after the expiration of the extended term thereunder (the 
"Noncompetition Period"), he shall not directly or indirectly own, finance, 
manage, operate, join, control, participate, assist, consult with, advise or be 
connected with as an officer, employee, director, partner, agent or otherwise 
(other than as the holder of up to one percent (1%) of the stock of any publicly 
traded company), in the operation of any business in the auto dismantling 
industry, the auto body purchasing and sales business or the ferrous or 
nonferrous scrap metal industry, any business relating thereto or any business 
that competes in any manner with Buyer or any of its subsidiaries, parents or 
affiliates or any of the Selling Entities anywhere in the United States. With 
regard to Seller's thirty percent (30%) ownership interest in American River 
Auto Wreckers and Seller's fifty percent (50%) ownership interest in land in 
Fort Worth, Texas, Seller may continue his ownership in said properties; 
however, all other aspects of this noncompetition provision will apply thereto, 
and Seller agrees, (i) to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, to 
preclude the expansion of the business of American River Auto Wreckers into the 
self-service auto dismantling business during the Noncompetition Period and (ii) 
if and when a conditional use permit is obtained for the land in Fort Worth, to 
offer to Buyer the first right to lease such property for use as a self-service 
auto dismantling yard on terms reasonably agreed upon by Seller and Buyer, and 
if Buyer and Seller fail to reach agreement on such terms, the right to match 
for fourteen (14) calendar days the lease terms Seller agrees to with a 
third-party lessee. 
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                  6.9.2 Seller further covenants and agrees that during the 
Noncompetition Period he will not, whether for his own account or for the 
account of any other person or entity, directly or indirectly interfere with any 
Selling Entity's relationship with, or endeavor to divert or entice away from 
any Selling Entity or Buyer or any of its subsidiaries, parents or affiliates, 
any person or entity who or that, at any time during the term of Seller's prior 
affiliation with any of the Selling Entities, or with any of their subsidiaries, 
parents or affiliates, is or was an employee, consultant, contractor, vendor, 
supplier or customer of any Selling Entity or of Buyer, or of any of their 
subsidiaries, parents or affiliates. 
 
                  6.9.3 Without prejudice to any and all rights of Buyer, an 
injunction is an effective and necessary remedy to protect the rights and 
property of Buyer as set forth herein and the rights and property of Buyer 
acquired in this Agreement, and all parties recognize and consent to Buyer's 
obtaining such an injunction to enforce the terms contained herein. 
 
                  6.9.4 Seller acknowledges and agrees that the foregoing 
territorial and time limitations are reasonable and properly required for the 
adequate protection of Buyer's business and the businesses of the Selling 
Entities, and agrees that such limitations are reasonable with respect to 
Buyer's and the Selling Entities' current and planned business activities. If 
the final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction declares that any term 
or provision of this Section 6.9 is invalid or unenforceable, the parties agree 
that the court making the determination of invalidity or unenforceability shall 
have the power to reduce the scope, duration or area of the term or provision; 
to delete specific words or phrases therefrom; or to replace any invalid or 
unenforceable term or provision with a term or provision that is valid and 
enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or 
unenforceable term or provision, and after the expiration of the time within 
which the judgment may be appealed, this Agreement shall be enforceable as so 
modified. 
 
                  6.9.5 For the agreements and undertakings of Seller under this 
Section 6.9, Buyer shall pay to Seller at Closing the aggregate sum of Five 
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000). 
 
7.       Conditions to Seller's Obligations. Unless otherwise waived by Seller, 
the obligations of Seller to transfer the Stock and the Interest to Buyer on the 
Closing Date are subject, at the discretion of Seller, to the satisfaction, on 
or prior to the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions: 
 
         7.1      Representations, Warranties and Covenants. All representations 
and warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in 
all material respects at and as of the Closing Date as if such representations 
and warranties were made at and as of the Closing Date, and Buyer shall have 
performed in all material respects all agreements and covenants required hereby 
to be performed by Buyer prior to or at the Closing Date. Buyer shall deliver to 
Seller a certificate (signed by a duly authorized officer of Buyer) to the 
foregoing effect. 
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         7.2      Consents. All consents, approvals and waivers from 
governmental authorities and other parties necessary to permit Seller to 
transfer the Stock and the Interest to Buyer as contemplated hereby shall have 
been obtained, unless the failure to obtain any such consent, approval or waiver 
would not have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
         7.3      Release of Personal Guarantee. Seller will have obtained a 
full release of the personal guarantees described in Section 6.2 of this 
Agreement or shall have been indemnified by Buyer for any liability under such 
personal guarantee, in a form of indemnity agreement reasonably satisfactory to 
Seller and his counsel. 
 
         7.4      Certificates. Buyer shall furnish to Seller such certificates 
as may reasonably be requested by Seller. 
 
         7.5      No Governmental Proceeding or Litigation. No suit, action, 
investigation, inquiry or other proceeding by any governmental authority or 
other person shall have been instituted or threatened that questions the 
validity or legality of the transactions contemplated hereby and that could 
reasonably be expected to materially damage Seller if the transactions 
contemplated hereunder are consummated. 
 
         7.6      Employment Agreements. The Partnership shall have executed the 
Employment Agreements. 
 
8.       Conditions to Buyer's Obligations. Unless otherwise waived by Buyer, 
the obligations of Buyer to purchase the Stock and the Interest as provided 
hereby are subject, at the discretion of Buyer, to the satisfaction, on or prior 
to the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions: 
 
         8.1      Representations, Warranties and Covenants. All representations 
and warranties of Seller, the Partnership, the LLC and the Company contained in 
this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects at and as of 
the Closing Date as if such representations and warranties were made at and as 
of the Closing Date, and Seller, the Partnership, the LLC and the Company shall 
have performed in all material respects all agreements and covenants required 
hereby to be performed by any of them prior to or at the Closing Date. There 
shall be delivered to Buyer a certificate (signed by Seller, the Partnership, 
the LLC and the President of the Company) to the foregoing effect. 
 
         8.2      Consents. All consents, approvals and waivers from 
governmental authorities and other parties necessary to permit Seller to 
transfer the Stock and the Interest to Buyer as contemplated hereby shall have 
been obtained, unless the failure to obtain any such consent, approval or waiver 
would not have a material adverse effect upon Buyer. 
 
         8.3      No Governmental Proceeding or Litigation. No suit, action, 
investigation, inquiry or other proceeding by any governmental authority or 
other person shall have been instituted or threatened that questions the 
validity or legality of the transactions contemplated hereby and that could 
reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect the value of the 
Stock, the Interest or the business of any Seller Entity. 
 
         8.4      Certificates. Seller, the Partnership, the LLC and the Company 
shall furnish Buyer with such certificates of Seller, the Company, the LLC, the 
Partnership and others to evidence compliance with the conditions set forth in 
this Section 8 as may be reasonably requested by Buyer. 
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         8.5      Organizational Documents. Buyer shall have received the 
corporate minute books, Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws and stock transfer 
books of the Company and the minute books, Articles of Organization and 
Operating Agreement of the LLC. 
 
         8.6      Completion of Due-Diligence Review. Buyer shall complete its 
due-diligence review of the Seller Entities and shall not have identified 
Potential Environmental Liabilities of more than Five Million Dollars 
($5,000,000). 
 
         8.7      Estoppel Certificates. Seller shall have delivered to Buyer 
estoppel certificates from the landlords under the leases of the Facilities, in 
a form reasonably requested by Buyer. 
 
         8.8      Employment Agreements. Seller and Robert T. Reddy shall have 
executed and delivered the Employment Agreements. 
 
9.       Indemnification. 
 
         9.1      Survival of Representations, etc. All statements contained in 
the Disclosure Schedule or in any certificate or instrument of conveyance 
delivered by or on behalf of the parties pursuant to this Agreement or in 
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby shall be deemed to be 
representations and warranties by the parties hereunder. The representations and 
warranties of each party hereto contained herein shall survive the Closing Date, 
without regard to any investigation made by any of the parties hereto, for a 
period of three (3) years. 
 
         9.2      Indemnification. Seller shall indemnify and hold harmless 
Buyer and its affiliates, shareholders, officers, directors, employees, agents, 
successors and assigns (collectively "Buyer's Indemnified Persons") from, for or 
against any damage, claim, liability or expense, including, without limitation, 
interest, penalties and reasonable attorneys' fees (collectively "Damages"), 
arising out of a breach of any warranty, representation, covenant or agreement 
of Seller, the Partnership, the LLC or the Company contained in this Agreement, 
but only in an amount equal to Seller's percentage equity interest in the Seller 
Entities multiplied by the amount of Damages. To the extent that any of Buyer's 
Indemnified Persons is insured against any Damages, Seller shall not be 
obligated to provide indemnification, to the extent that insurance coverage 
exists and, pursuant to such coverage, an insurance company pays money toward 
any such Damages. If the Minority Interest Debt has not been paid in full on or 
before February 15, 2006, Seller shall pay Buyer an amount equal to fifty 
percent (50%) of the then outstanding Minority Interest Debt. Buyer hereby 
assigns to Seller, effective upon Buyer's payment of the amount required 
pursuant to the preceding sentence, Buyer's right to receive and collect fifty 
percent (50%) of any Minority Interest Debt outstanding after February 15, 2006. 
 
         Buyer shall indemnify and hold Seller and his agents, heirs and assigns 
harmless from, for or against any Damages arising out of the breach of any 
warranty, representation, covenant or agreement of Buyer contained in this 
Agreement and from any Damages arising out of transactions entered into by the 
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Company, the LLC or the Partnership, or arising out of events relating to the 
Company, the LLC or the Partnership, occurring after the Closing Date. The term 
"Damages" as used in this Section 9 is not limited to matters asserted by third 
parties against Seller, the Partnership, the Company, the LLC or Buyer's 
Indemnified Persons, but includes Damages incurred or sustained by the Company, 
the Partnership, the LLC, Seller or Buyer in the absence of third-party claims. 
To the extent that Seller is insured against any Damages, Buyer shall not be 
obligated to provide indemnification to the extent that insurance coverage 
exists and, pursuant to such coverage, an insurance company pays money toward 
any such Damages. 
 
         9.3      Indemnification Procedures. Upon Buyer's becoming aware of a 
fact, condition or event that constitutes a breach of any of the 
representations, warranties, covenants or agreements of Seller, the Partnership, 
the LLC or the Company contained herein, if a claim for Damages in respect 
thereof is to be made against Seller under this Section 9, Buyer will, within 
thirty (30) days of so becoming aware, notify Seller in writing of such fact, 
condition or event. If such notice is not provided within this thirty (30) day 
period, Seller shall remain obligated to provide indemnification but will be 
allowed to offset any Damages specifically caused by Buyer's failure to provide 
notice within this thirty (30) day period. If such fact, condition or event is 
the assertion of a claim by a third party, Seller will be entitled to 
participate in or take charge of the defense against such claim, provided that 
Seller and his counsel shall proceed with diligence and in good faith with 
respect thereto. 
 
         Upon Seller's becoming aware of a fact, condition or event that 
constitutes a breach of any of the representations, warranties, covenants or 
agreements of Buyer contained herein, if a claim for Damages in respect thereof 
is to be made against Buyer under this Section 9, Seller will, within thirty 
(30) days of so becoming aware notify Buyer in writing of such fact, condition 
or event. If such notice is not provided within the thirty (30) day period, 
Buyer shall remain obligated to provide indemnification but will be allowed to 
offset any Damages specifically caused by Seller's failure to provide notice 
within this thirty (30) day period. If such fact, condition or event is the 
assertion of a claim by a third party, Buyer will be entitled to participate in 
or take charge of the defense against such claim, provided that Buyer and its 
counsel shall proceed with diligence and in good faith with respect thereto. 
 
         9.4      Holdback; Escrow. Buyer shall withhold Seven Million Dollars 
($7,000,000) from the Company Purchase Price and Three Million Dollars 
($3,000,000) from the LLC Purchase Price, as a fund to satisfy Seller's 
indemnification obligations under this Section 9, by placing such funds in an 
escrow account in accordance with the Escrow Agreement attached hereto as 
Exhibit D. If Buyer is entitled to receive any amount from Seller under this 
Agreement as an indemnification payment under this Section 9, without prejudice 
to the rights of Buyer to seek any recovery from and against Seller as provided 
hereunder, Buyer shall be entitled to recover all or any portion of such amount 
in accordance with the terms of the Escrow Agreement, to the extent of the cash 
or other property held in escrow thereunder. Buyer agrees not to make any 
"Claim" under the Escrow Agreement (as defined therein) other than upon 
satisfaction of the other conditions set forth in this Section 9. Claims under 
the Escrow Agreement shall bear interest from the date on which the Claim is 
asserted until paid (i) at the rate of interest, if any, earned on funds held 
under the Escrow Agreement or (ii) if no interest is being earned on such funds, 
at the rate of four percent (4%) per annum. 
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         9.5      Limitations. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement 
to the contrary, Seller shall not have any obligation to indemnify Buyer for 
Damages suffered as a result of the breach of a representation or warranty 
contained in Section 4.12 or Section 4.29 until such Damages exceed the reserves 
therefor on the Financial Statements by more than One Hundred Thousand Dollars 
($100,000) for each section, as such amounts are currently reserved on the 
Partnership's Financial Statements, whereupon Buyer shall be entitled to 
indemnification hereunder for the aggregate amount of all Damages suffered by 
Buyer's Indemnified Persons in excess of the amounts reserved therefor on the 
Financial Statements (subject only to the limitation described in the following 
sentence). Further, Buyer shall not assert any claim for indemnification 
hereunder against Seller with respect to any breach or violation of any 
representation or warranty in this Agreement or any covenant or agreement to be 
performed by Seller on or before the Closing Date, until such time as the 
aggregate amount of all claims Buyer may have against Seller, whether 
individually or collectively, shall exceed One Hundred Thousand Dollars 
($100,000), whereupon Buyer shall be entitled to indemnification hereunder for 
the aggregate amount of all Damages suffered by Buyer's Indemnified Persons 
(subject only to the limitation described in the preceding sentence). 
 
10.      Miscellaneous. 
 
         10.1     Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time 
prior to the Closing Date (i) by mutual written agreement of Seller and Buyer; 
(ii) by Buyer (provided that Buyer is not in material breach of this Agreement) 
if there has been a material breach by Seller, the Partnership, the LLC or the 
Company of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement, which breach he 
or it fails to cure within ten (10) business days after notice thereof is given 
by Buyer in accordance with the terms of Section 9.3; (iii) by Seller (provided 
that Seller, the Company, the LLC and the Partnership are not in material breach 
of this Agreement) if there has been a material breach by Buyer of any 
representation, warranty, covenant or agreement, which breach it fails to cure 
within ten (10) business days after notice thereof is given by Seller in 
accordance with the terms of Section 9.3; (iv) by Seller or Buyer if the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement are not closed by February 15, 2003, 
other than due to breach of this Agreement by any party; (v) by Buyer, as 
provided in Section 6.4; or (vi) by Buyer or Seller, as provided in Section 2.6. 
 
         10.2     Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights or 
obligations hereunder may be assigned by Seller without the prior written 
consent of Buyer, or by Buyer without the prior written consent of Seller, 
except that (i) Buyer may, without such consent, assign the right to acquire the 
Stock and the Interest, or either of them, to a parent or wholly owned 
subsidiary or subsidiaries of Buyer; provided, however, that Buyer shall 
continue to be a party to this Agreement and to be bound by the provisions 
hereof, and (ii) Seller shall have the right to assign the right to receive 
proceeds from the Stock and the Interest, or either of them, without obtaining 
the consent of Buyer. Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement shall be binding 
upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective 
successors and assigns, and no other person shall have any right, benefit or 
obligation hereunder. 
 
         10.3     Notices. All notices required or permitted to be given under 
this Agreement shall be in writing. Notices may be served by certified or 
registered mail, postage paid, with return receipt requested; by private 
courier, prepaid; by telex, facsimile or other telecommunication device capable 
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of transmitting or creating a written record; or personally. Mailed notices 
shall be deemed delivered five (5) days after mailing, properly addressed, with 
a return receipt requested. Couriered notices shall be deemed delivered when 
delivered as addressed or, if the addressee refuses delivery, when delivery is 
refused. Faxed or telecommunicated notices shall be deemed delivered when 
receipt is either confirmed by confirming transmission equipment or acknowledged 
by the addressee or its office. Personal delivery shall be effective when 
accomplished. Unless a party changes his or its address by giving notice to the 
other party as provided herein, notices shall be delivered to the parties at the 
following addresses: 
 
         If to Buyer:               Norprop, Inc. 
                                    Attn: Ilene Dobrow Davidson 
                                    3200 NW Yeon Avenue 
                                    PO Box 10047 
                                    Portland, OR  97296-0047 
                                    Facsimile No. (503) 299-2277 
 
         If to the Company:         Pick and Pull Auto Dismantling, Inc. 
                                    Attn:  President 
                                    1165 Investment Boulevard 
                                    El Dorado Hills, CA  95762 
                                    Facsimile No. (916) 939-2130 
 
         If to the Partnership:     Pick-N-Pull Auto Dismantlers 
                                    7590 Stockton Boulevard 
                                    Sacramento, CA  95823 
                                    Facsimile No. (916) 682-6220 
 
         If to the LLC:             Pick-N-Pull Auto Dismantlers, Stockton, LLC 
                                    7590 Stockton Boulevard 
                                    Sacramento, CA  95823 
                                    Facsimile No. (916) 682-6220 
 
         If to Seller:              Bob Spence 
                                    1165 Investment Boulevard 
                                    El Dorado Hills, CA  95762 
                                    Facsimile No. (916) 939-2130 
 
                                    With a copy to: 
                                    Gary L. Bradus 
                                    Weintraub Genshlea Chediak Sproul 
                                    400 Capitol Mall, Suite 1100 
                                    Sacramento, CA 95814 
                                    Facsimile No. (916) 446-1611 
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         10.4     Governing Law; Jurisdiction and Venue. The construction and 
performance of this Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of 
Oregon, including, without limitation, the choice-of-law provisions thereof. The 
exclusive jurisdiction and venue for any legal action or arbitration under this 
Agreement shall be Multnomah County, Oregon. 
 
         10.5     Entire Agreement; Amendments and Waivers. This Agreement, 
together with all exhibits and schedules hereto, constitutes the entire 
agreement among the parties pertaining to the subject matter hereof and 
supersedes all prior agreements, understandings, negotiations and discussions, 
whether oral or written, among the parties. No supplement to, modification of or 
waiver of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by the 
party to be bound thereby. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement 
shall be deemed to be or shall constitute a waiver of any other provision hereof 
(whether or not similar), nor shall such waiver constitute a continuing waiver 
unless expressly so provided in such waiver. 
 
         10.6     Counterparts and Facsimile Signatures. This Agreement may be 
executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, 
but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. A 
facsimile transmission by one party to another party of an executed signature 
page of this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute due execution and delivery 
of this Agreement by such party. 
 
         10.7     Invalidity. If any one or more of the provisions contained in 
this Agreement or in any other instrument referred to herein shall, for any 
reason, be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such 
invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision 
of this Agreement or any other such instrument. 
 
         10.8     Headings. The headings of the sections herein are inserted for 
convenience of reference only and are not intended to be a part of or to affect 
the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. 
 
         10.9     Expenses. Each party will be liable for his or its own costs 
and expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution 
and performance of this Agreement. 
 
         10.10    Publicity. No party shall issue any press release or make any 
public statement regarding the transactions contemplated hereby, without the 
prior written approval of the other party, or as set forth in Section 10.11. The 
parties acknowledge that it is the intent of the corporate parent of Buyer to 
issue a press release upon execution of this Agreement and to issue additional 
disclosure and file this Agreement as an exhibit on Form 8-K upon the Closing. 
 
         10.11    Confidential Information. The parties acknowledge that the 
transactions described herein are of a confidential nature and shall not be 
disclosed except to consultants, advisors and affiliates, or as required by law, 
until such time as the parties make a public announcement regarding the 
transactions as provided in Section 10.10. No party to this Agreement shall make 
any public disclosure of the specific terms of this Agreement, except as 
required by law or as required by Buyer's corporate parent to comply with such 
parent's disclosure policies and laws and regulations applicable to publicly 
held companies. In connection with the negotiation of this Agreement and the 
preparation for the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, each 
party acknowledges that he or it will have access to confidential information 
relating to the other party. Each party shall treat such information as 
confidential, preserve the confidentiality thereof and not duplicate, use or 
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share such information, except to share it with advisors, consultants and 
affiliates in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby. In the event 
of the termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever, each party shall 
return to the other all documents, work papers and other material (including all 
copies thereof) obtained in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby 
and will use all reasonable efforts, including instructing its employees and 
others who have had access to such information, to keep confidential and not to 
use any such information, unless such information is now or hereafter disclosed, 
through no act or omission of such party, in any manner making such information 
available to the general public. 
 
         10.12    Attorneys' Fees. If any lawsuit, action, arbitration (other 
than arbitration pursuant to Sections 2.4.3, 2.5.3 or 2.6) or other proceeding 
is brought by any party to interpret or enforce this Agreement, the prevailing 
party shall be entitled to recover attorneys' fees and costs, in addition to any 
other recovery or remedy the prevailing party is entitled to recover; provided, 
however, that if litigation or arbitration is commenced by any party to enforce 
this Agreement, Buyer shall, irrespective of the outcome of any such litigation 
or arbitration, reimburse Seller for the reasonable travel costs (lodging, 
transportation and meals) incurred by Seller and his counsel to travel to Oregon 
in connection with such litigation or arbitration. 
 
         10.13    Sales to Schnitzer Steel. 
 
                  10.13.1 From the Closing Date through December 31, 2003, the 
parties agree that Schnitzer Steel shall have a right of first refusal, under 
the same terms as it now enjoys under its arrangements with the Partnership, to 
purchase all auto bodies the Partnership or its subsidiaries and affiliates or 
the LLC desires to sell, but at a price payable by Schnitzer Steel to the 
Partnership or the LLC for such auto bodies as follows: The all in net ton 
(equal to two thousand (2,000) pounds) price paid by Schnitzer Steel to the 
Partnership or the LLC will vary monthly and will be based upon the export price 
per long ton (equal to two thousand two hundred and forty (2,240) pounds) 
received from third parties other than the Company or the LLC FOB Schnitzer 
Steel's Oakland facility ("Schnitzer Oakland") less Forty-Four Dollars ($44), 
but in any event, the all in price per net ton paid by Schnitzer Steel to the 
Partnership or to the LLC in any calendar month shall be at least Ten Dollars 
($10) more than the average price per net ton paid by Schnitzer Steel FOB 
Schnitzer Oakland during such month to third parties for auto bodies. Schnitzer 
Steel's export price FOB Schnitzer Oakland is the average gross contracted price 
earned by Schnitzer Oakland for all shredded ferrous export cargoes shipped 
during the immediately preceding month (or last month in which Schnitzer Steel 
shipped an export cargo), less costs incurred in connection with (i) ship 
loading costs including direct labor paid to employees and third parties, 
equipment maintenance, depreciation and rental costs for equipment used in the 
loading process, stevedoring costs and draft survey costs; (ii) adjustments, 
commissions and payments to customers to settle claims associated with shredded 
ferrous product shipments that occurred between the Closing Date and December 
31, 2003; and (iii) freight costs paid by Schnitzer Oakland to deliver the 
product to the customer, inclusive of damage and other claims incurred in 
connection with the loading of the shredded ferrous cargo; in each case, as 
determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
consistently applied. 
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                  10.13.2 Schnitzer Steel shall have the same rights to bid on 
other ferrous or nonferrous scrap to be sold by the Partnership or the LLC, and 
to purchase any such scrap, as it now enjoys under its arrangements with the 
Partnership. 
 
                  10.13.3 Schnitzer Steel shall provide Seller with appropriate 
documentation supporting Schnitzer Steel's computation of the pricing described 
in Section 10.13.1 and shall provide Seller with the right to review and audit 
Schnitzer Steel's records relating to Schnitzer Oakland's FOB export price per 
long ton and the purchase price paid by Schnitzer Oakland to third parties for 
auto bodies during each month of calendar year 2003. 
 
                  10.13.4 In the event that Schnitzer Steel declines to exercise 
its right of first refusal to purchase any auto bodies, as described in Section 
10.13.1, and any Seller Entity desires to sell any of such auto bodies to any 
third party for a price that is less than the price that Schnitzer Steel would 
have paid had it purchased the subject auto bodies and paid the price described 
in section 10.13.1, then prior to such sale the applicable Seller Entity shall 
give Schnitzer Steel not less than one business day's prior written notice (the 
"Sale Notice") describing the number and weight of auto bodies to be sold and 
the price at which they will be sold, accompanied by the third party's purchase 
order or other offer documentation, and Schnitzer Steel shall have the right to 
purchase the auto bodies that are the subject of the Sale Notice at the price 
described in the Sale Notice plus a premium equal to one half of the difference 
between the per ton price specified in the Sale Notice and the per ton price 
that would have been payable by Schnitzer Steel had it purchased the subject 
auto bodies at the pricing set forth in Section 10.13.1. 
 
                  10.13.5 Seller shall provide Schnitzer Steel with appropriate 
documentation supporting the applicable Selling Entity's computation of the 
pricing described in Section 10.13.4 and shall provide Schnitzer Steel with the 
right to review and audit the records relating to offers and sales to third 
parties of auto bodies during each month of calendar year 2003. 
 
         10.14    eComm Litigation. From and after the Closing Date, Seller 
shall be responsible for one-half of the legal fees and expenses of the 
Partnership in the eComm Litigation, any settlement or judgment against the 
Partnership in the eComm Litigation, three and one-half (3.5) times the amount 
of any license fees or royalties that may be required to be paid on an ongoing 
basis for the use by the Seller Entities (other than the LLC) of the software 
that is the subject of the eComm Litigation and seven (7) times the amount of 
any license fees or royalties that may be required to be paid on an ongoing 
basis for the use by the LLC of the software that is the subject of the eComm 
Litigation. Seller shall also be entitled to one-half of any recovery by the 
Partnership in the eComm Litigation. The parties agree that Buyer shall have the 
right actively to participate in the direction of the litigation. 
 
         10.15    Arbitration. Any dispute (other than as described in Section 
2.6 above and as permitted by applicable law) arising out of or relating to this 
Agreement shall be submitted and settled exclusively by confidential 
arbitration; provided that nothing herein shall prevent a party from resort to a 
court of competent jurisdiction in those instances where injunctive relief may 
be appropriate. Except as provided in Sections 2.4.3, 2.5.3 and 2.6 or other 
applicable provisions of this Agreement, such arbitration shall be conducted in 
accordance with the provisions of this Section 10.15. 
 
                                       42 



 
         Any party to this Agreement may commence an arbitration by serving a 
written demand for arbitration on the other parties. The parties waive any 
requirement that service of a demand for arbitration be personal or by certified 
or registered mail, and consent to service by any reasonable method, including 
without limitation, facsimile or U.S. mail. Such arbitration shall be before a 
single mutually acceptable arbitrator. If the parties to the dispute cannot 
reach agreement on an arbitrator within ten (10) days of service of a demand for 
arbitration, either party may apply to the Multnomah County Circuit Court for 
the appointment of an arbitrator as provided by Oregon law. 
 
         Venue for the arbitration hearing shall be exclusively in Multnomah 
County, Oregon and the Multnomah County Circuit Court shall have exclusive 
jurisdiction of any judicial proceeding commenced in connection with any 
dispute, including without limitation, any action to compel or abate 
arbitration, appoint an arbitrator, or confirm an arbitration award. The parties 
specifically waive any and all objections to jurisdiction in the Multnomah 
County Circuit Court. 
 
         Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Oregon Rules of 
Civil Procedure shall control discovery in any arbitration proceeding. 
 
         Without the consent of the parties, no party may take more than three 
(3) depositions and each deposition shall be limited to no more than four (4) 
hours in length. Depositions shall be conducted in Portland, Oregon and Buyer 
shall bear the expense, if any, incurred in making the witness available in 
Portland, Oregon. 
 
         Absent the agreement of the parties and order of the arbitrator, the 
arbitration hearing shall be concluded within one hundred twenty (120) days of 
the selection or judicial appointment of the arbitrator. The arbitrator's 
decision must be in writing and include a statement specifying in reasonable 
detail the basis for and computation of the amount of the award, if any, and 
shall be issued no later than ten (10) business days following the conclusion of 
the arbitration hearing. As part of the arbitrator's award, the arbitrator shall 
award attorneys fees and costs to the prevailing party as set forth in Section 
10.12. The arbitration award shall be final and binding and shall not be 
reviewable in any court on any grounds except corruption, fraud or undue means 
of a party or for evident partiality or corruption of the arbitrator. The 
parties hereto intend to eliminate all other court review of the award and the 
arbitration proceedings. Except as necessary in a judicial proceeding allowable 
under this Section 10.15, all matters relating to any arbitration shall be 
confidential, including without limitation the existence and subject of the 
arbitration. This Section 10.15 shall survive any termination of this Agreement. 
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         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement, or 
have caused this Agreement to be duly executed on their respective behalf by 
their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the day and year 
first above written. 
 
Company:                                        Buyer: 
 
PICK AND PULL AUTO DISMANTLING,                 NORPROP, INC., 
INC., a California corporation                  an Oregon corporation 
 
By: /S/ Bob Spence                              By: /S/ Robert Philip 
    --------------------------                      ---------------------------- 
Its: CEO                                        Its: President 
    --------------------------                       --------------------------- 
 
 
                                                As to Section 10.13 only 
                                                Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc. 
 
                                                By: /S/ Robert Philip 
                                                    ---------------------------- 
                                                Its: President and Chief 
                                                     Executive Officer 
                                                     --------------------------- 
Partnership: 
 
PICK-N-PULL AUTO DISMANTLERS, 
a California general partnership                Seller: 
 
By:  Pick and Pull Auto Dismantling, Inc. 
Its: General Partner                            /S/ 
                                                -------------------------------- 
                                                           (Bob Spence) 
By: /S/ 
    -------------------------- 
     (Bob Spence, President) 
 
 
 
LLC: 
 
PICK-N-PULL AUTO DISMANTLERS, 
STOCKTON, LLC, 
a California limited liability company 
 
 
By: /S/ 
    -------------------------- 
     (Bob Spence, Member) 
 



                                                                    EXHIBIT 99.1 
                                                                    ------------ 
 
 
                            CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
                             18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 
                             AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
                  SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
 
 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc. (the 
"Company") on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 30, 2002 as filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, 
Robert W. Philip, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, as adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge: 
 
 
 
(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) of the 
     Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material 
     respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
/s/ ROBERT W. PHILIP 
- ------------------------------ 
Robert W. Philip 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
January 10, 2003 
 



                                                                    EXHIBIT 99.2 
                                                                    ------------ 
 
 
                            CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
                             18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 
                             AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
                  SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
 
 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc. (the 
"Company") on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 30, 2002 as filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, 
Barry A. Rosen, Vice President, Finance and Treasurer, and Chief Financial 
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge: 
 
 
 
(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) of the 
     Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material 
     respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
/s/ BARRY A. ROSEN 
- ------------------------------ 
Barry A. Rosen 
Vice President, Finance and 
Treasurer, and Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
January 10, 2003 
 


